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OvERvIEW

2012 was a transitional year for China, particularly with 

the changes that were made in terms of leadership at 

a governmental level.  The economy grew by 7.7% in 

Q1 2013, and is targeted to grow by 7.5% for the full 

year.  Retail sales, a particularly pertinent measure for 

consumption, grew by 12.6% in March 2013, which is an 

increase over January and February’s average.  Chinese 

Fast-moving consumer goods (“FMCG”) products grew by 

14% in 2012 (source: Economic Observer), demonstrating 

the consistently increasing levels of consumerism.  

The rate of change that the Board is seeing in China is 

significant and China Food is well placed to capitalise on 

this, as the economy develops and consumer spending 

continues to increase apace.  Specifically in Shandong, 

the growth has been strong and with a population of 96 

million, the province has the third highest GDP in China 

with a GDP growth rate at over 12% for 2012.  

Against this backdrop of ongoing economic growth in 

China, the Group’s continuing revenue grew to £20.1 

million (2011: £16.9 million), an increase of 19.0%, as the 

Group successfully expanded its soya sauce business 

into more shops, distributors and provinces.   Taking into 

account the increased depreciation of £1.3 million for 

the new facility and the impact of the loss of margin due 

to reduced revenues arising from enhanced food safety 

processes for vinegar and bean paste (totalling £450,000), 

gross profit decreased slightly by 5.3% to £6.2 million 

(2011: £6.5 million) with a loss before tax of £4.6 million 

(2011: £1.9 million).  However, as explained below the year 

has been one of two halves with the operating loss for the 

second half falling to £533,000 (H1 2012: (£2,911,000)).  

However demand for China Food’s products remained 

strong and the Board perceives the marketing spend of 

£6.8 million (2011: £5.2 million) to be an investment for the 

future growth of the Group.  

CONSUMER

With regard to the average Chinese consumer, the Group 

has identified a shift in shopping and eating habits and, 

with the ongoing urbanisation (52% for China and 42% 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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The Board believes that the Group is now well positioned 

within the Chinese market to continue to increase its market 

share organically, as well as capitalising on opportunities 

for consolidation in the sector as appropriate.  

pRODUCTS

The Board is pleased that the Group’s product range has 

been developed, with the market response to Xaka, the 

Group’s premium grade soya sauce, being positive since 

its launch in H2 2011. Xaka achieved 276% growth in 

sales in H2 2012 when compared to H2 2011. The brand 

was selected as the preferred soya sauce for the Chinese 

Olympic team in 2012 and the Board believes that a robust 

foundation has been laid for Xaka as an aspirational and 

well respected brand in the market. 

Xaka achieved sales of £6.4 million during 2012 which 

compares to £1.0 million in 2011. The marketing which 

has successfully positioned Xaka as a premium brand 

has had a positive impact on Hao Tai Tai sales and China 

Food is now also working to drive sales of Hao Tai Tai in 

2013.  During the year, the Company exited from the low 

end / high volume sachet market for Hao Tai Tai, which 

in the second half has resulted in an improvement in the 

Company’s gross margins (before depreciation) from 37% 

to 39%.

The Group has experienced some loss of production 

capacity in the vinegar and bean paste areas, due to the 

new increased food safety standards, however, vinegar 

demand continues to outstrip capacity and the Board will 

be considering a further investment when funds allow.

SALES

The Board is pleased that the Group has expanded its 

distribution network and is now successfully selling Xaka 

and Hao Tai Tai in the neighbouring provinces of Henan, 

Hebei, Anhui, Jiangsu and Beijing.  Sales outside of 

Shandong now account for 15% of total sales, which is 

expected to rise to 25% in 2013. 

2012 was a changeable year for the condiments business 

with regard to revenue.  The Group invested £6.8 million in 

advertising and marketing (particularly focused on raising 

for Shandong) which is occurring, there is a considerable 

opportunity for China Food to continue to grow and build its 

customer base.  This potential for growth is compounded 

by the increasing average salary and the well documented 

rise of the Chinese middle classes.  This increasing 

spending power has resulted in consumers becoming 

ever more concerned over food safety, and China Food’s 

western branding, modern manufacturing facility and high 

standards (ISO 22,000, BRC and GM free) of food safety 

are engendering considerable trust amongst consumers.  

Food safety has been further heightened as an issue in 

China, as it has been announced that the State Food 

and Drug Administration will be promoted to ministerial 

level and plans have been made at a governmental level 

to establish a food safety standards centre to impose 

compulsory industry standards across China.  China 

Food’s high standards of food safety, operating to western 

standards, means that the Group is well positioned to 

benefit from the increasing focus on this by consumers 

and the government.  

China Food’s strategy is for Hao Tai Tai, the Group’s mid-

range brand, to benefit from the image and branding 

associated with Xaka, its premium soya sauce product.  

The marketing spend associated with Xaka has therefore 

also had a positive impact on the profile of Hao Tai Tai, 

as the overall China Food brand becomes associated 

with quality and premium products.  We expect to see 

a potential uplift in sales of Hao Tai Tai, as consumers 

perceive this to be higher grade given the association with 

Xaka.  

STRATEgy

China Food operates in a fragmented market, with few 

large players and multiple smaller manufacturers which 

cannot compete with the Group’s scale and standards 

of production.  The condiments market in China, and 

particularly in Shandong, is therefore particularly suitable 

for consolidation and the Board intends to consider 

potential partnership opportunities with a view to 

generating shareholder value.  
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the profile of Xaka), which generated significant sales, 

resulting in soya sauce revenue reaching £5.3 million 

in the first half of the year (H1 2011: £3.8 million), an 

increase of 40% on the comparative period.  The overall 

condiments business grew by 16% in H1 2012, held back 

by increased demands in food safety standards for vinegar 

and bean paste, as well as a decline in sales of Hao Tai 

Tai following the abandonment of the bottom-end sachet 

range.  This, coupled with the increased investment in 

marketing, resulted in an operating loss of £2.9 million for 

H1 2012 and a negative EBITDA of £1.7 million.  

In the second half of 2012, the Group successfully 

worked to drive sales of Hao Tai Tai whilst maintaining the 

Xaka business.  As a result, revenue for the soya sauce 

business increased by 34% to  £6.4 million (H2 2011: 

£4.8.million), and coupled with growth in the vinegar and 

bean paste products, resulted in growth of 21% for the 

overall condiments business in the second half of the year.  

Importantly, the business achieved an EBITDA positive 

result in H2 2012 of £263,000.

2011 2012

H1 H2 TOTAL H1 H2 TOTAL

£’000

Xaka         -       1,017    1,017    2,468      3,944      6,412 

Hao Tai Tai 3,780     3,729   7,509   2,815     2,504     5,319 

Soya sauce 3,780 4,746 8,526 5,283 6,448 11,731 

vinegar/bean paste 4,586 3,778 8,364 4,416 3,954 8,370 

Total revenue 8,366 8,524 16,890 9,699 10,402 20,101 

Margin 

Soya sauce 1,463 1,574 3,037 1,029 2,111 3,140

vinegar/bean paste 2,010 1,473 3,483 1,628 1,405 3,033

3,473 3,047 6,520 2,657 3,516 6,173

Add back 

Depreciation

102

106 208 947 540 1,487
gross Margin 3,575 3,153 6,728 3,604 4,056 7,660

gross Margin % 43% 37% 40% 37% 39% 38%

Soya sauce 39% 33% 36% 19% 33% 27%

vinegar/bean paste 44% 39% 42% 37% 36% 36%

Margin 42% 36% 38% 27% 34% 31%

EbITDA 1,826 (1,957) (131) (1,670) 263 (1,407)

MARgINS

The margins overall for the year have declined from 38% 

to 31%, however if the additional depreciation charge 

is added back of £1.3 million, the margins have only 

decreased by 2% to 38%, which is more a reflection of the 

loss of contribution from vinegar and bean paste. 2012 

saw a significant step change in the level of depreciation 

as production capacity increased to 77% and for 2013, 

there will be a further increase, but the amount will be 

significantly less. Moving forward, it is anticipated that the 

margins will improve as the “depreciation fixed cost” will 

decrease as a proportion of turnover. 

MARkETINg

The Group’s marketing strategy during the period has been 

largely focused on Xaka, with considerable investment of 

£6.8 million (2011: £5.2 million) made in the launch of 

this premium product.  This investment has laid a strong 

foundation for future growth not only of Xaka, but also of 

other products in the Group’s range which have benefited 

from the association with such a premium product. 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Furthermore, the Xaka investment has opened up a much 

larger geographic footprint and distributor network which 

will allow the Group to drive Hao Tai Tai sales through 

these new channels. 

In 2013, the Board has taken the decision to direct more 

of its marketing focus towards Hao Tai Tai, which has been 

core to the Group’s offering for over 10 years and has 

remained profitable during this period.  The Group intends 

to work to strike a balance between its marketing spend 

on the two products, in order to maximise the impact of 

the investment and ensure that the marketing strategies 

for Xaka and Hao Tai Tai remain aligned and mutually 

beneficial.  The marketing spend is now focused on 

supporting the products to the consumer and distributors, 

rather than brand-building.  We foresee that the level of 

marketing spend will now reduce both as a proportion of 

turnover and absolutely.

pRODUCTION

The Group has seen wheat and soya prices increase 

during the period particularly in autumn 2012, however 

as the product pricing was in its launch phase, the Group 

was unable to pass on any price increases. Prices have 

now stabilised and are starting to decline. 

The Group’s factory, which was completed in H2 2011, 

sets the Group apart from its competitors in terms of the 

quality of its products.  The production facility adheres 

to the highest standards of quality and food safety, and 

the Board now believes it is one of the top 20 production 

facilities in China.  The state-of-the-art facility gives the 

Group total capacity of 50,000 tonnes per year (based 

on 180 day fermentation cycle) of raw soya sauce and, 

during 2012, we achieved a utilisation rate of 77% with 

38,500 tonnes of final soya sauce product being sold.

  

The duration of the fermentation cycle (180 to 120 days) 

determines the level of the amino acid within the raw soya 

sauce and as a consequence it defines the product as 

either premium (180 day) or medium (120 day) grade.

The facility has been established with the ability to adapt 

the production process to reflect the varying product 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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fermentation processes of between 180 and 120 

days.  This will increase the stock rotation and reduce 

production costs.  The Company will consider reviewing 

the fermentation process in the current financial year to 

reduce the fermentation period of production batches for 

Hao Tai Tai to 120 days, rather than engineering, 180 day 

products to meet 120 day standards.  This will reduce the 

overall fermentation time, decrease costs and increase the 

number of fermentation cycles and yield from the Group’s 

existing capacity.

In addition to manufacturing China Food’s own branded 

products, the Group has a robust industrial reuser 

business which supplied 2.9 tonnes of raw soya sauce to 

top tier condiments manufacturers in 2012.  This business 

provides the Group with steady cashflow and although 

margins are lower, the Board is pleased that it maximises 

the utilisation of the facility and increases the economies 

of scale available to the Group during this period of new 

market penetration and revenue growth.  

The Board is considering further opportunities to expand 

its vinegar production facility, which is sold at a margin of 

43%.

MANAgEMENT

Building a strong and experienced management team 

continues to be a key objective of the Group, to drive 

growth and input into the strategic direction of China 

Food. 

At the Board level, China Food was please to appoint Mr. 

Clifford Halvorsen onto the Board.  As a seasoned banker 

with experience in the food sector, Clifford’s experience 

will give the Group support and insight into capital 

markets in particular.  Additionally, Mr Tham, who served 

as Chief Executive Officer for five years, assumed the role 

of Executive Director as the Group looks to dispose of the 

feed business and explore strategic alliances.  Ms. Feng 

Bo, Chief Operating Officer, takes over the Chief Executive 

Officer role while John McLean assumed the position of 

Executive Chairman and will oversee the Group’s financial 

matters with the resignation of Ms. Tang Lin, our Chief 

Financial Officer.  The Group is currently seeking a Chief 

Financial Officer with the relevant skill and expertise to 

support the Group’s future growth, and an announcement 

will be made in due course.  

During the year, Mr. Tom Coley also left the Board for 

personal reasons.  As a former senior manager of Nestle, 

a multinational food company, Mr. Coley provided valuable 

insight and input to the Group’s marketing strategy in 

particular of launching branded products in China.  The 

Board would particularly like to thank Mr. Coley for his 

contribution to the Group.

CASH

The Group has historically been highly cash generative 

and has invested significantly in the last few years in the 

development of the new production facility funded from 

cash generation, shareholder loans and convertible loan 

notes.  Commencing H2 2011, significant investment 

has been made in Xaka product launch and new market 

penetration as well as in the redevelopment of the Feeds 

operation to facilitate a sale at optimum valuation.  Whilst 

the Group has been able to secure bank facilities within 

China to fund working capital requirements, regulatory 

controls on the remittance of cash outside China has, on 

occasions, restricted the Groups ability to settle liabilities 

arising in Singapore and the UK to payment terms and 

the decision to focus on investment in market penetration 

and Xaka brand development in the growing consumer 

market resulted in the need to restructure the Company’s 

convertible loan notes.  

Since the period end, the Group has successfully put a 

structure in place to enable it to remit funds out of China. 

The first small tranche of funds has already been received 

by the Singapore holding company in April 2013.  

During the course of the year, the Group continued to 

have the support of the financial institutions in China for 

its trading operations.  The Group secured new facilities 

of RMB15 million from Weihai City Commercial Bank for 

working capital requirements in the financial year.  As at 

31 December 2012, the total bank borrowings amounted 

to £10.2 million with a cash balance of £8.0 million. In 

early 2013, the Group repaid a bank loan of £2.5 million 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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and negotiated a new facility of £2.0 million which was 

drawdown in May 2013.  With the trading operations 

returning to EBITDA-positive in the second half and the 

new China bank facilities, the cash requirements for China 

are adequate. 

 

The convertible loan notes of the Company of £4.38 million 

and the accruing interests were successfully extended 

to 3 November 2014 during the period.  A redemption 

premium of 1% of the Loan Note holder’s original holding 

will be payable on redemption.  The Company and the 

Loan Note holders have agreed that interest will be 

charged at a rate of 12.5% p.a. from 3 November 2012 to 

31 January 2013; from 1 February 2013 to 30 June 2013, 

the rate of interest will rise to 15% p.a.; from 1 July to 

30 September 2013 to 17.5% p.a.; from 1 October to 31 

December 2013 to 20% p.a. and 25% p.a. thereafter until 

redemption. The Loan Note holders retain the right not to 

redeem their holding until maturity of the Loan Notes on 

3 November 2014, in which case the interest rate will be 

fixed at the rate prevailing on the date of the Company’s 

proposed redemption.  In the event the Company is 

unable to transfer funds from the PRC to pay interest 

when due, the A, B, & C Loan Note holders have agreed 

that interest charged will be rolled up and compounded 

semi-annually to maturity. This will relieve the Group’s 

immediate cashflow requirements outside China, where 

Singapore and London operate as cost-centres and allow 

the Group to focus on strengthening the business.  

As detailed further below, China Food has initiated a 

sales process of the feed business and when the sale 

is completed, the funds will be utilised to repay the 

convertible loan notes. 

NET ASSETS

The net assets for the Group at 31 December 2012 were 

£31.7 million (2011: £38.9 million) which was a decrease 

over 2011 of 18.5%. The reduction in net assets was 

increased by the depreciation in the RMB exchange rate 

which during the year has fallen by 3.73% (2011: £1 = 

RMB9.768 versus 2012: £1 = RMB10.132). The RMB has 

since strengthened significantly with the rate as at 30 April 

2013 at £1 = RMB9.575.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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DEpRECIATION 

As the manufacturing facility utilisation has increased 

during the year, the associated depreciation has also 

increased, so that for the year the charge, which is included 

in costs of sales, is £1.5 million (2011: £0.2 million) which 

is a substantial increase of £1.3 million over 2011. It is 

expected that the charge for 2013 will only marginally 

increase as capacity utilisation rises to 100%.

ANIMAL fEED bUSINESS

As previously announced, the Group signed a sales and 

purchase agreement with Wisehand Planning Co. Ltd 

(“Wisehand”), a Korean based company, to divest of its 

animal feed business for a consideration of US$16 million 

in July 2012.  However, the transaction did not complete 

and the Group is currently considering action against 

Wisehand given that Wisehand defaulted on its terms. In 

view of the Group’s continued commitment to dispose its 

animal feed business, the assets and liabilities pertaining 

to animal feed activities have been reclassified to ‘held for 

sale’ and the results of discontinued operations presented 

separately in the income statement.

The animal feed business turnover reduced to RMB219 

million during the period (2011: RMB242 million) primarily 

due to the poor livestock market in H2 2012 and the 

disruptive impact of the sale process and the building of 

the new feed factory.  The Group could have mitigated the 

price pressures by increasing purchases and stockpiling 

but while this would have reduced the average cost of 

sales, it would have increased the Group’s inventory and 

constrained cash.  As the feed sale did not complete and 

the Group is funding the construction of the new factory, 

the Board took the decision not to increase its inventory.   

This resulted in the feed business breaking even with an 

operating profit of RMB11,000 (2011: RMB21.1million).

In the meantime, the Group’s new feed factory was 

completed at the end of 2012 and started full production 

in March 2013.  This new factory will increase existing 

capacity from 18,000 tonnes per annum (“tpa”) in pre-mix 

feed to 50,000 tpa and 60,000 tpa in compound feed to 

240,000 tpa.  With the new facilities and more advanced 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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equipment, the Board is confident of reducing the cost 

of production and being more competitive and profitable 

for 2013.  Revenue from the old factory operating at full 

capacity was £24 million which compares to an estimated 

revenue of the new factory operating at full capacity of 

approximately £100 million. The total capital investment 

for the new factory was approximately £3.5 million, which 

has been funded from the Company’s internal resources. 

The new factory is equipped with the most advanced and 

up-to-date feed manufacturing equipment sourced from 

Buhler Group, a Swiss-based manufacturer of agriculture 

equipment.

The Board remains committed to selling the animal feed 

business to enable the company to increase its focus on 

its condiments business and to inject new capital into the 

Group to repay its debts and provide additional working 

capital to the condiments business.  Now the factory 

is operational, the Board will be working to improve its 

efficiency.  Following the start-up in March 2013, the first 

half is expected to make a loss, but once the plant is fully 

operational, it is expected to return to profit.  Until any sale 

is concluded, the feed business is expected to make a 

positive contribution to the Group.  The Board confirms 

that the Group continues to seek a buyer for its animal 

feed business, and will update the market on this as 

appropriate and anticipates that the operational cash flow 

from the feed business will exceed the interest payable on 

the Group’s loan stock.  Once the feed business has been 

sold, the anticipated proceeds will be used to repay the 

convertible loan notes.

OUTLOOk

The Board continues to have confidence in the opportunity 

that exists in the condiments market in China.  The 

growing affluence of Chinese consumers, increasing 

spending power and ongoing urbanisation will, we believe, 

continue to drive the growth of the industry and increase 

the demand for high quality products.  

It is the Board’s belief that up to 90% of the soya sauce 

market in Japan is dominated by the high-end naturally 

fermented soya sauce, such as “Kikkoman”.  Currently 

in China, the converse is true where only about 10% of 

the market is consuming the high-end soya sauce.  China 

Food now has a production facility that can produce such 

high-end soya sauce and is one of the largest of such 

facilities in China, therefore positioning itself well for the 

future growth of this high end market.

Meanwhile, the Group will focus on returning a profit by 

continuing to drive sales of both Xaka and also Hao Tai Tai, 

which continues to be one of the top brands in Shandong 

province.  Our brands of Xaka and Hao Tai Tai, coupled 

with a proven production facility, give the Group strong 

fundamentals to grow the business.  

During the year, the combination of high sales and 

marketing costs and additional depreciation had a 

significant impact on the Group’s results, however, as 

China Food’s revenues increase, the benefit of these 

“fixed costs” will impact the Group’s bottom line.  It is also 

anticipated that our overall marketing spend will diminish 

both as a proportion of revenues and absolutely, which as 

a consequence, is expected to increase our net margin.

Finally, we would like to thank all the shareholders of China 

Food Company Plc for their support, patience and belief 

in the Group and the management, as well as the staff for 

their commitment and hard work in building and growing 

China Food. 

John Mclean

Executive Chairman

28 June 2013

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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JOHN MCLEAN (Executive Chairman)

John McLean, aged 60, is Executive Chairman of China Food Company plc and is also Non-executive 
Chairman of Sorbic International Plc, the leading Chinese sorbate producer and distributor. He is also a 
Director of the China Britain Business Council (CBBC) as a non-executive director and Chair of VSO China. In 
2007 he joined the board of Humberts plc, the estate agent, and became its Executive Chairman to lead its 
rescue and ultimate disposal. Prior to this, he carried out a strategic review for Gamma Holdings NV of their 
UK interests, including Sanderson, the textile and wallpaper company, and as its UK group managing director 
successfully implemented the turnaround and disposal plan. Sanderson was a global company which was 
brand and design led and had operations in America, Asia and China. In the nineties, he was Finance Director 
and then General Manager of ICS, the UK logistics and overnight courier business and co-led a management 
buy-out of the company with 3i, prior to its successful disposal to Hays plc. John is a Chartered Accountant 
and was previously with Coopers & Lybrand in both London and New York.

fENg bO (Chief Executive Officer)

Feng Bo, aged 44, graduated from the Beijing Agriculture Engineering University in 1991 with a Bachelor of 
Science. She then completed her graduate course in International Trade at China Ocean University in 2003. 
She is also a committee member of the China Animal Husbandry and Veterinary Institute of Animal Nutrition. 
She joined Fuss Feed in 1994 and subsequently became its General Manager. Feng Bo is currently a director 
of Fuss Feed and its legal representative. Ms Feng took over the reins as the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Group in November 2012.

RApHAEL THAM WAI MUN (Executive Director)

Raphael Tham Wai Mun, aged 43, stepped down as Chief Executive Officer in September 2012 after leading the 
Company for 5 years (since 2007).  He remains as an Executive Director of the Company.  He is experienced in 
various businesses within the technology, construction, retail and finance industries and has been involved in 
general management, strategic development, financing and corporate restructuring.  He has his own boutique 
corporate finance and business consultancy company, Augrains Capital Pte Ltd and also sits on the Board of 
several companies, including the Non-executive Chairman of Auhua Clean Energy plc, another London AIM 
listed company and a non-executive director of Byte Power Group Limited, an Australian listed company. Prior 
to joining the Company, Mr Tham was the senior vice president of a Hong Kong based, GEM listed company 
involved in securities, corporate finance advisory and other related services and was the country manager of 
their Singapore subsidiary. Mr Tham started his career with the Economic Development Board of Singapore 
and holds a Bachelor of Arts (Economics) from the National University of Singapore.

CLIffORD HALvORSEN (Non-Executive and Independent Director)

Clifford Halvorsen, aged 54, joins China Food following a career in the City with Investec and Hambros Bank, 
where he was a corporate finance director. He has over 25 years’ experience of originating and executing 
a wide range of transactions in the UK, continental Europe, the USA and South Africa with a focus on the 
consumer sector.  Clifford has extensive experience in corporate finance, as well as broad knowledge of the 
food industry. Clifford does not currently hold any other directorships.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of 
China Food Company Plc (“China Food” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 
31 December 2012.

Principal activities

The Group is mainly engaged in the manufacture and distribution of cooking and dipping sauces and animal feed 
products through its subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (as set out in note 3.3(c)).

The results of the Group are set out in detail on pages 29 to 36.

Business review

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

The Directors have identified revenue, gross and net profit margins, working capital, and sales mix as the principal 
KPIs of the Group.

Working Capital Management

Working capital is managed through closely monitoring inventories, debtors’ and creditors’ turnover. In 2012, these 
were 150 (2011: 134), 17 (2011: 12), and 63 (2011: 65) days respectively. There were no outstanding trade debtors 
overdue at the year end. There was an increase in inventory turnover as the fermentation period for the new soya 
sauce products is between 3-6 months which is substantially longer than the original products for which the process 
took approximately one month. The creditor payment policy is stated below.

Financial review

Summary Of Financial Results

Year ended Year ended 
31 December 2012 31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Revenue 20,101  16,890 
EBITDA (1,407) (131)
Loss before tax for continuing operations (4,566)  (1,926) 
Loss after taxation for continuing operations (5,415)  (1,897) 
Cash and cash equivalents 7,968  6,584 
Net assets 31,671  38,895 
Basic Loss per share (pence) (7.59)  (1.01) 

Directors’ report
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Risks affecting the group

General economic climate

The general economic climate is volatile and is affected by numerous factors which are beyond the Group’s control 
and which may affect its operations, business and profitability. These factors include the supply and demand of 
capital, growth in gross domestic product, employment trends and industrial disruption, international economic 
trends, currency exchange rate fluctuations, the level of interest rates and the rate of inflation, global or regional 
political events and international events, as well as a range of other market forces, all of which have an impact on 
demand and business costs. Depending on the climate, the Board may accelerate or decelerate its expansion plans.

Fluctuations in the price of raw materials

A significant percentage of the raw materials used in the production of the Group’s products are commodity-based. 
The prices of raw materials such as wheat and soybean meal used in the production of condiments may fluctuate 
due to changes in supply and demand conditions. Any shortage in the supply or upsurge in demand may lead to 
an increase in prices, which may adversely affect the Group’s profitability. While the Group will seek to mitigate the 
impact by passing on all or at least part of future cost increases to its customers this may not always be possible. 
The Group can also adjust its procurement and inventory cycles to hedge against sudden price hikes. However, the 
Group has set an inventory turnover guideline not to exceed 90 days.

Brand recognition in new markets

Before the launch of our new product Xaka, the Group’s condiments products are mainly medium-to-lower end 
and distribution of these is mainly through distributors in Shandong and nearby provinces. The new product from 
its new factory is medium-to-high end. The majority of Xaka products will be distributed into new markets through 
supermarket and hypermarket chains. With the launch of Xaka, the Group’s investment in marketing spend has 
increased significantly. Despite its good track record, the Group cannot guarantee rapid penetration into these new 
markets where it may take time for new customers to accept and recognise its brand. There is no definite time frame 
when the Group will be able to recover the investment. The length of time taken to achieve success will impact the 
Group’s revenues and profitability.

Competition

The condiments market is intensely competitive with a large number of both large and small competitors. Larger 
companies, in particular, may have access to greater financial resources and technical facilities than the Group, 
which may give them a competitive advantage. The Board and management regularly meet to discuss and agree the 
Group’s strategy in the face of such competition.

Food safety

While the Group is ISO certified and HACCP approved, it may still be at risk to manufacturing errors, sub-standard 
raw materials from its suppliers or foul play which could affect the safety of the Group’s products. This could result in 
fines, the loss of business licenses and the loss of customer confidence. The Group has continued to take measures 
to improve food safety and had no safety issues reported in 2012 against a back-drop of increased government 
inspections and controls.

Directors’ report
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Operating Cashflow

While the Group has adequate cashflow for its existing operating activities through local banking facilities, the Group 
may have to continue to make significant investment in marketing of Xaka in the new markets. This may absorb a 
significant proportion of the Group’s free cashflow. At 31 December 2012, the Group had a cash balance of £8.0 
million (2011: £6.6 million) and generated net cash inflows of £3.4 million (2011: outflow £1.6 million) from operating 
activities. The increase in the cash balance was mainly due to the new bank loans during the year.

To reduce the cashflow requirement in rolling out Xaka to the supermarkets and hypermarkets which may require 
60-90 days credit terms, a large part of Xaka’s distribution will be through mid to large local distributors who will pay 
in advance. However, the Group may not be able to take this position across the board and may have to offer credit 
terms. Depending on the progress of Xaka, the Group may have to access local trade facilities to fund its expansion. 
In the event that such facilities are not available, the Group may have to moderate the expansion of Xaka.

Indebtedness

The Group has total liabilities of £37.7 million of which £12.8 million is in Singapore and the United Kingdom. The 
£24.9 million of liabilities in China consists of £10.1 million bank loans secured against the assets of the Chinese 
subsidiaries and the remainder being trade and other payables incurred in the course of business and the capital 
investments. Of the £12.8 million in Singapore and United Kingdom, £7.6 million are long term shareholder loans 
and convertible loan notes, leaving an exposure of £5.2 million in liabilities consisting of short-term shareholder loans, 
interest payables and other payables. While the Group’s cash position is £8.0 million as at December 2012 these 
funds are located in China and subject to repatriation restrictions. The Group has successfully declared a dividend 
from China operations to the Singapore holding company of £55,000 in April 2013. However, as the Chinese 
operations are also loss-making, there is no surety that the Group will be able to continuously secure approvals to 
transfer monies out of China. In the event that it is not, the Group may have difficulties paying its shareholders loan 
and other liabilities outside China to terms.

Dependence on key executives and personnel

The future performance of the Group will depend on its ability to retain the services and personal connections or 
contacts of key executives and to recruit, motivate and retain other suitably skilled personnel. The Group aims to 
mitigate this risk by developing its staff in-house, giving them clear objectives and career paths.

Sale of Feed Business

As announced in 2012, the Group signed a conditional sales and purchase agreement to divest the animal feed 
business. As at December 2012, the agreement has lapsed. The Group will continue to consider other interested 
parties to sell the Animal Feed business in 2013 and is in discussions with professional advisors to do so. Meanwhile, 
the Group has completed the new factory and started operations.

There is no guarantee that the Group will be able to successfully divest the Animal Feed business and/or to sell it at a 
similar price. If the Group is unable to sell the business, it will have to pay for the new factory, as well as its operating 
costs and working capital from its existing cash balance. This may have a drain on the cashflow moving ahead. The 
Group was also expecting to reduce its debt position and declare a potential dividend. All these plans are affected in 
the event that the Animal feed business is not sold and/or for an unattractive price.
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Financial risk management

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing financial risks. The financial risk management objectives and 
policies of the Group are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

Share capital

There were no new shares issued during the year. The total number of shares in issue, both at the year end and at 
28 June 2013, was 71,446,972.

Dividends

The directors do not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2012.

Directors

The following directors served the company during the year:

John McLean (Executive Chairman)
Feng Bo (Chief Executive Officer)
Raphael Tham Wai Mun (Executive Director)
Clifford Halvorsen (Non-executive Director, On and after 24 September, 2012)
Tang Lin (Chief Financial Officer, On and until 24 September, 2012)
Thomas Coley (Non-executive Director, On and until 30 November, 2012)

None of the directors has had a material interest in any contract or arrangement of significance to which the 
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year except for those disclosed in note 27.

Employees

The Board recognises that the Group’s employees are its most important asset. Employees are encouraged to train 
and develop their careers.

The Board maintains good working relations with employees by the use of clear channels of communication. The 
responsibility for communication with the workforce rests with the managers through formal and informal meetings.

The Group is committed to achieving equal opportunities and to complying with anti-discrimination legislation.

Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the best 
practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.
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Creditor payment policy

The Group had £2.4 million owing to trade creditors at 31 December 2012 (2011: £2.3 million). It is the Group’s 
policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions and tries to 
service its debts as and when they fall due. The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and 
capital supplies of goods and services. However, as mentioned under “Indebtedness” above, the Group’s fund are in 
China and may be unable to secure the approvals to transfer such funds outside China to pay its creditors promptly 
in Singapore and the United Kingdom. At the balance sheet date, there were 63 (2011: 65) days’ purchases 
outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average trade creditors to total cost of sales.

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 10:30 a.m. on 24 July 2013 at the offices of Stephenson Harwood, 
1 Finsbury Circus London EC2M 7SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report:

Shareholder
No. of

ordinary shares
Percentage of 

issued share capital
Main World Investments Limited 19,227,274 26.9%
Westminster Enterprises Limited 5,401,574 7.56%
Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 4,057,221 5.68%
Downing LLP 3,025,000 4.23%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 18) issued as at the date of the 
report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,425,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests exceeded 
10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued:

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder
Notes A held 

(£’000)
Percentage of 

Notes A issued
Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%
Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%
Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%
Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%

Substantial holding for Notes B

Notes B holder
Notes B held 

(£’000)
Percentage of 

Notes B issued
Main World Investments Limited 1,000 100%
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Substantial holding for Notes C

Notes C holder
Notes C held 

(£’000)
Percentage of 

Notes C issued
VicTory VCT Plc 624 45.22%
Noble AIM VCT Plc 376 27.25%
Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 250 18.12%

The Loan Note holders have agreed to further extend the redemption date to 3 November 2014. A redemption 
premium of 1% of the Loan Note holder’s original holding will be payable on redemption.

The Company and the Loan Note holders have also agreed that interest will be charged at a rate of 12.5% p.a. from 
3 November 2012 to 31 January 2013; from 1 February 2013 to 30 June 2013, the rate of interest will rise to 15% 
p.a.; from 1 July to 30 September 2013 to 17.5% p.a.; from 1 October to 31 December 2013 to 20% p.a. and 25% 
p.a. thereafter until redemption. The Loan Note holders retain the right not to redeem their holding until maturity 
of the Loan Notes on 3 November 2014, in which case the interest rate will be fixed at the rate prevailing on the 
date of the Company’s proposed redemption. In the event the Company is unable to transfer funds from the PRC 
to pay interest when due, the A, B, & C Loan Note holders have agreed that interest charged will be rolled up and 
compounded semi-annually to maturity.

As the Loan Notes were not redeemed by 31 December 2012, the price at which the Loan Notes are convertible 
was been reset to 15.5 pence, being the lower of the average mid-market price for the period of 20 December to 
31 December 2012 and 19 pence per ordinary share being the closing mid-price on 1 November 2012.

Going Concern

The Group income statement reports a loss for the year of £5.4 million (2011: loss £0.7 million) and the statement of 
financial position shows net current liabilities as at 31 December 2012 of £8.2 million (2011: £7.1 million). 

As described in the Chairman’s statement and Directors report, the group has invested significantly in recent years 
in the development of new production facilities for both the condiments and feeds businesses and the development 
and market penetration of the new Xaka brand. These investments have been funded through a combination of 
operational cash generation, shareholder loans, bank facilities, convertible loan notes and the issue of new equity.

The result for the period and the net current liabilities position are influenced by the investments that are being made 
and the current Group financing structure, notably where bank facilities in China are normally repayable within one 
year. During the period, the Group secured new bank loans of £1.5 million from the WeiHai City Commercial Bank to 
meet working capital requirements. Subsequent to the year end, the Group repaid bank facilities of £2.5 million and 
in May 2013, agreed a new £2.0 million facility with ICBC.  

Whilst the Group has been able to secure bank facilities within China to fund working capital requirements, regulatory 
controls on the remittance of cash outside China has, on occasions restricted to Group’s ability to settle liabilities 
arising in Singapore and the UK to payment terms. Since the period end, the Group has successfully put in place a 
structure to remit funds out of China but remains subject to regulatory consents. 

The new feed factory has been completed with construction costs being met from operational cash flows and other 
forms of finance as noted above. Production has commenced and the Group does not expect any further significant 
capital investment. As noted in the Chairman’s statement the Group continues to pursue its strategy to dispose 
of the feed business, the proceeds being used to restructure the Group’s debt and allow continued focus on the 
development of the condiments business.  
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As highlighted in Note 18 to the financial statements, the existing convertible loan notes A&B and convertible loan 
note C were initially amended during the year and subsequently, their accruing interests and conversion terms 
amended and the redemption terms extended until 3 November 2014.

Consequently, the directors have prepared and reviewed forecasts and budgets for the coming year and extended 
their review to 31 December 2014. The forecasts have been drawn up with appropriate regard for the current 
macroeconomic environment, reasonable expectations of trading performance and the particular circumstances in 
which the Group operates. These were prepared with reference to historic and current industry knowledge, taking 
future strategy of the Group into account.  

The major assumptions within these forecasts include, the disposal of the Feeds business and redemption of 
convertible loan notes on or before 3 November 2014, the continuing ability to secure bank facilities within China to 
fund working capital requirements and the continuing support of shareholders in respect of current and on demand 
shareholder loans (as set out in Note 19) until the Group’s debt can be restructured. The Directors have the ability to 
amend the scale of investment in the development of the condiments business dependent upon available cash and 
working capital. Combined with access to the operational cash flows, previously utilised to fund the construction of 
the feeds business should enable the operations of the Group to service its liabilities as they fall due.

The timing of completion and proceeds from of the disposal of the Feeds business is uncertain, which together 
with regulatory restraints around the remittance of funds from China may continue to restrict the Group’s ability to 
settle liabilities outside China and redeem the convertible loan notes to terms. The Directors have concluded that 
the combination of these circumstances may represent a material uncertainty that casts doubt upon the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. To mitigate these circumstances the Directors are also pursuing a number of 
alternative sources of funding.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs). Under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or 
loss of the company and group for that period. The directors have elected to prepare the parent company financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•	 make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•	 for the group and parent company financial statements, state whether applicable IFRSs have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

•	 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
company will continue in business.
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The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors confirm that:

•	 so far as each director is aware there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is 
unaware; and

•	 the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on 
the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Auditor

During the year ended 31 December 2012 the Board and Audit Committee approved an extension to the 
engagement term of the Senior Statutory Auditor responsible for the audit opinion in relation to China Food Company 
plc.  The term was extended from 5 to 6 years  to ensure continued audit quality. The Audit Committee is satisfied 
that this extension does not in any way prejudice the objectivity and independence of the auditor.

Grant Thornton UK LLP, have expressed willingness to continue in office.

In accordance with section 489(4) of the Companies Act 2006 a resolution to reappoint Grant Thornton UK LLP will 
be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

By order of the board

John McLean
Chairman
28 June 2013
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A Remuneration Committee currently comprising of one independent Non-executive and two Executive Directors 
have been established to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure for all 
remuneration of the Directors and senior management.

As China Food Company Plc (the “Company”) is an AIM listed company it is not required to present a Directors’ 
Remuneration report. The Board has chosen to do so as a voluntary disclosure. The information presented meets the 
requirements of the changes to the AIM Rule 19, effective February 2010.

The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to review the remuneration policy for the Directors and other senior 
management and to determine the level of remuneration package in order to attract, motivate and retain talent. The 
Remuneration Committee will consult with the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer in respect of 
their recommendations in determining the remuneration of the Directors and senior management.

It is the Group’s policy that all Executive Directors’ service contracts contain a six-month notice period.

Non-executive Directors are compensated with the aim to fairly represent their efforts and time dedicated to the 
Board and various committee meetings. The Non-executive Directors have letters of appointment stating their annual 
fee. Their appointment may be terminated by giving six-month written notice.

The remuneration of all the Directors during the financial year, excluding Directors’ interests in share options of the 
Company is set out below.

Fees Salary
Pension 

contributions
Other 

emoluments Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

John McLean -  - - 67 67
Raphael Tham Wai Mun - 80 7 71 158
Feng Bo - 92 6  - 98
Tang Lin 4 35  -  - 39
Tom Coley 13 -  - - 13
Clifford Halvorsen 11 - -  - 11

28 207 13 138 386

Share Options

The Company adopted a share option scheme in 2007 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and granted 4,648,000 options 
to the Directors and employees on 10 June 2009. Further 1,750,000 options were granted in May 2011 to the 
Directors.

Directors’ remuneration
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Details of the grant of share options to the Directors and a summary of the movements of the outstanding share 
options during the financial year under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Director
Options 
granted

Outstanding as at
31 December 2012

Date at which 
exercisable

Exercise 
price Expiry date

John McLean
2009 Options
Lot 1  77,466  77,466 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2  77,467  77,467 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3  77,467  77,467 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

 232,400  232,400 

2011 Options
Lot 1 178,000 178,000 25 May 2011 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 2 178,000 178,000 25 May 2012 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 3 178,000 178,000 25 May 2013 £0.53 24 May 2014

534,000 534,000

Raphael Tham Wai Mun
2009 Options
Lot 1  123,947  123,947 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2  123,947  123,947 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3  123,946  123,946 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

 371,840  371,840 

2011 Options
Lot 1 177,667 177,667 25 May 2011 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 2 177,666 177,666 25 May 2012 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 3 177,667 177,667 25 May 2013 £0.53 24 May 2014

533,000 533,000

Feng Bo
2009 Options
Lot 1  123,947  123,947 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2  123,946  123,946 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3  123,947  123,947 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

 371,840  371,840 

2011 Options
Lot 1 177,667 177,667 25 May 2011 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 2 177,667 177,667 25 May 2012 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 3 177,666 177,666 25 May 2013 £0.53 24 May 2014

533,000 533,000

Tom Coley
2011 Options
Lot 1 50,000 50,000 25 May 2011 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 2 50,000 50,000 25 May 2012 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 3 50,000 50,000 25 May 2013 £0.53 24 May 2014

150,000 150,000

None of the share options has been exercised during the year.

Directors’ remuneration

China Food AR2012_Financial_270613_v8.indd   22 27-Jun-13   2:41:33 PM



ANNUAL REPORT 2012

23

Directors’ Interests

The Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company at 31 December 2012 and at the date of this report are 
shown below:

Ordinary shares held
Director Direct Deemed

John Mclean  563,425 -
Raphael Tham Wai Mun  100,000 -
Feng Bo(1)  - 19,227,274

 663,425  19,227,274 

(1)  Feng Bo has a deemed interest in Main World Investments Limited’s holdings of 19,227,274 ordinary shares. 
Feng Bo is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group and spouse of Fu Guoping who is the sole shareholder of 
Main World Investments Limited.

The Directors’ interests in the Convertible loan notes of the Company at 31 December 2012 and at the date of this 
report are shown below:

Convertible loan 
notes A&B held

Convertible loan 
notes C held

Director Direct Deemed Direct Deemed
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

John Mclean  50  -  - - 
Feng Bo(1)  -  1,000  -  - 

 50  1,000  - - 

(1)  Feng Bo has a deemed interest in Main World Investments Limited’s holdings of £1,000,000 Convertible loan 
notes B. Feng Bo is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group and spouse of Fu Guoping who is the sole 
shareholder of Main World Investments Limited.
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Introduction

China Food Company Plc (“China Food” or the “Company”) believes that high standards of corporate governance 
are essential to its growth, driving performance, and maximising long-term shareholder value. While the Company is 
not subject to the Corporate Governance Code applicable to companies listed on the Official List, The Company is 
committed to observing high standards of corporate governance.

In this report, we describe the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities with reference to 
the principles of the Quoted Companies Alliance’s Corporate Governance Guidelines. The main features of the 
Company’s corporate governance procedures are as follows:

The Board

The Board effectively leads the Group, provides strategic direction, sets the values and standards for corporate 
governance and oversees the business affairs of the Group.

The Board meets regularly to review the Group’s operations and performance. Additional meetings are convened to 
discuss matters that require urgent consideration. The Board has defined a schedule of matters specifically reserved 
for its decision and delegates certain powers to the Board committees and to the executive directors, collectively and 
individually.

The number of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings held in the current financial year and the attendance 
of Directors at these meetings are as follows:

Attendance Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee

Meetings held 4 2 2

John McLean 4/4 2/2 2/2
Feng Bo 4/4 1/2 1/2
Raphael Tham Wai Mun 4/4 2/2 N/A
Clifford Halvorsen 1/4 1/2 N/A
Tang Lin 1/4 1/2 N/A
Thomas Coley 1/4 1/2 1/2

In addition to the Board meetings held, the Directors also visited operations in China and held discussions with 
Management on different occasions during the year ended 31 December 2012.

The Board comprises five directors, including the executive Chairman from 1 October 2012, two executive directors, 
and one independent non-executive director. Notwithstanding that less than one-third of the Board comprises 
independent Directors, the Board is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs, independent from 
Management (being the two executive directors); the executive Chairman oversees the strategy and financial matters 
of the Group and not involved in the day-to-day management. The Board considers the size and composition of 
the Board appropriate for the scope and nature of the Group’s operations. The members of the Board have core 
competencies in various fields including accounting, finance, business management and strategic planning. The 
composition of the Board and the skills mix are regularly reviewed.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one third of the Board is required to retire by rotation each 
year.

corporate Governance
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The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separate persons to ensure an appropriate balance of power 
and authority. The separation of roles between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer facilitates a healthy 
exchange of views and opinions between the Board and Management.

Committees of the Board

The Board has three established Committees for Audit, Nomination and Remuneration.

The Audit Committee, chaired by John McLean, meets at least twice a year with the Company’s external auditors 
present. Its roles mainly include the review of the financial statements, internal controls and the scope and cost of 
the audit, and to receive reports from the external auditors. The Committee has full access to, and the co-operation 
of Management, as well as full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend its meetings. It has 
reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions effectively.

The Nomination Committee, chaired by John McLean, has full power and authority to carry out a formal selection 
process of candidates and then propose new appointments to the Board.

The Remuneration Committee, chaired by Clifford Halvorsen, is responsible for making recommendations to the 
Board on remuneration policy for directors, including the setting of directors’ salaries and incentive arrangements. 
The Committee is also responsible for recommending the granting of share options to employees.

Relations with Shareholders

The Board considers it important to communicate a balanced and understandable assessment of the group’s 
performance and prospects to all investors. The Board maintains frequent contact with institutional investors through 
regular meetings. The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is regarded by the Board as an important opportunity to meet 
and communicate with individual shareholders. Shareholders are given ample time and opportunity at the company’s 
AGM to express their views and put forward their questions to directors or management concerning the Group. 
The Board welcomes the views of all shareholders, and other stakeholders, which in the first instance should be 
communicated to the Chairman.

Internal Control

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal control, including financial, operational, 
compliance control and risk management, and for reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is designed to manage and minimise risk, rather than eliminate it. In pursuing these objectives internal 
controls can only provide a reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s system of internal control is designed to assist its business objectives, safeguard the group’s assets, 
ensure compliance with regulation and provide reliable financial information. Regular management meetings review 
all aspects of the Group’s business including any inherent or identified risks. Executive management review the 
significant risks affecting the business and the policies and procedures by which these risks are managed.

There are established procedures for budgeting and planning capital expenditure, together with the reporting systems 
for monitoring the Group’s business and performance. There is a rolling forecast in place, which is used to assess 
the financial impact of the Group’s strategy, together with a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual 
budget approved by the Board. A monthly report to the Board details the financial performance of the Group for the 
preceding period versus budget and/or forecast.

corporate Governance
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The external auditors, who are engaged to express an opinion on the Group financial statements, also consider the 
systems of internal financial control to the extent necessary to express that opinion. External auditors report the 
results of their work to management, including executive members of the Board and the Audit Committee.

The Board has adopted the Share Dealing Code for the purpose of compliance with Rule 21 of the AIM Rules and 
takes steps to ensure compliance with that rule by the Group’s employees.

The Board confirms that there is a continuing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the risks faced by the 
Group. Through the procedures outlined above, the Board has considered all significant aspects of internal control 
during the period under review and to date.

corporate Governance
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We have audited the financial statements of China Food Company plc for the year ended 31 December 2012 
which comprise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
the consolidated and company statements of financial position, the consolidated and company statements of 
cash flow’s, the consolidated and company statements of changes in equity and the related notes. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Director’s Responsibilities set out on page 19, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
apb/scope/private.cfm.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at 
31 December 2012 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union;

• the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

inDepenDent auDitor’s report
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Emphasis of matter - Going concern

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the 
disclosure made in note 3.1 to the financial statements concerning the group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The group incurred a net loss of £5,423,000 during the year ended 31 December 2012 and has net current liabilities 
of £8,162,000. As explained in note 3.1, uncertainty regarding the timing of the group’s disposal of the Feeds 
business, together with regulatory restrictions regarding the remittance of funds from China, may restrict the group’s 
ability to redeem the convertible loan notes due 3 November 2014 and settle other liabilities in accordance with the 
terms.

These conditions, along with the other matters explained in note 3.1 to the financial statements, indicate the 
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the group was unable to 
continue as a going concern.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to 
you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Norman Armstrong
Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London
28 June 2013
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Notes
Year ended

31 December 2012
Year ended

31 December 2011
£’000 £’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 4 20,101 16,890 
Cost of sales   (13,928) (10,370)
Gross profit 6,173 6,520 

Other operating income 5 68 457 
Selling and marketing costs (6,785) (5,222)
Administrative costs   (2,900) (2,370)
Operating result (3,444) (615) 

Finance costs 6 (1,562) (1,336)
Finance income 6 440 25 
Loss before taxation for continuing operations 7 (4,566) (1,926)
Taxation 9 (849) 29
Loss after taxation for continuing operations (5,415) (1,897)
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations 8 (8) 1,191
Loss for the period attributable to equity holders  

of the parent   (5,423) (706)

(Loss)/earnings per share

- Basic (pence) 10 (7.59) (1.01)
- Diluted (pence) 10 (7.59) (1.01)

- Basic (pence) - continuing 10 (7.58) (2.72)
- Diluted (pence) - continuing 10 (7.58) (2.72)

- Basic (pence) - discontinued 10 (0.01) 1.71
- Diluted (pence) - discontinued 10 (0.01) 1.71

consoLiDateD income statement
For tHe Year enDeD 31 DecemBer 2012

China Food AR2012_Financial_270613_v8.indd   29 27-Jun-13   2:41:33 PM



CHINA FOOD  COMPANY PLC

30

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Loss for the year (5,423) (706)

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (1,872) 2,548
Other comprehensive result, net of tax (1,872) 2,548

Total comprehensive result for the year attributable to  
equity holders of the parent (7,295) 1,842

consoLiDateD statement oF compreHensive income
For tHe Year enDeD 31 DecemBer 2012
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Notes
 As at

31 December 2012 
As at

31 December 2011 
£’000 £’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11  38,922  40,792 
Land use rights lease prepayments 12  7,331  7,765 
Deferred tax assets  1,264  1,311 
Total non-current assets  47,517  49,868

Current assets
Assets held for sale 20 4,271 2,988
Inventories 13  5,831 5,611 
Land use rights lease prepayments 12  151  175
Trade and other receivables 14  3,578  2,626 
Current tax receivables 69 -
Cash and cash equivalents 15  7,968  6,584 
Total current assets  21,868 17,984

Total assets  69,385 67,852

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16  15,743  8,334 
Bank loans 17  10,067  8,702 
Current portion of convertible loan notes 18  622  4,276 
Current portion of shareholders’ loans 19  1,949  1,889 
Amount due to directors’ 87 -
Current tax payable -  315 
Liabilities held for sale 20 1,562 1,559
Total current liabilities  30,030 25,075

Net current liabilities (8,162) (7,091)

Total assets less current liabilities  39,355 42,777

Non-current liabilities
Convertible loan notes 18  3,985  - 
Shareholders’ loan 19  3,591  3,769 
Deferred tax liabilities  108  113 

 7,684  3,882

Net assets  31,671  38,895

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital 21  2,858  2,858 
Share premium 22  24,972  24,972 
PRC statutory reserve  3,833  3,581 
Reverse acquisition reserve (23,992) (23,992)
Shares to be issued reserve  371  300 
Convertible loan notes - equity 18  160  160 
Foreign exchange translation reserve  9,028  10,900 
Merger reserve  2,216  2,216 
Retained profits  12,225  17,900 

 31,671  38,895

These financial statements were approved by the directors on 28 June 2013, and signed on their behalf by:

John McLean
Chairman

consoLiDateD statement oF FinanciaL position
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Notes
 As at

31 December 2012 
 As at

31 December 2011 
£’000 £’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 24 30,508 30,684

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 14  5  5 
VAT recoverable  7  10 
Advance to a subsidiary 27 2,768 2,905
Amount due from a subsidiary 27 416 316 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 6 8
Total current assets 3,202 3,244

Total assets 33,710 33,928
 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 967 502 
Current portion of convertible loan notes 18 622 4,276 
Current portion of Shareholders’ loan 19 1,230 1,291 
Amount due to director’s 56 -
Total current liabilities 2,875 6,069

Net current assets/(liabilities) 327 (2,825)

Total assets less current liabilities 30,835 27,859

Non-current liabilities
Convertible loan notes 18 3,985 -
Shareholder’s loan 19 516 542 

4,501 542

Net assets 26,334 27,317

EQUITY
Share capital 21 2,858 2,858 
Share premium 22 5,331 5,331 
Shares to be issued reserve 371 300 
Merger relief reserve 18,553 18,553 
Convertible loan notes - equity 18 160 160 
Accumulated losses (939) 115

26,334 27,317

These financial statements were approved by the directors on 28 June 2013, and signed on their behalf by:

John McLean
Chairman

companY statement oF FinanciaL position
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Notes
Year ended

31 December 2012
Year ended

31 December 2011
 £’000  £’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax (4,566) (1,926)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation 1,865 1,264 
Amortisation of land use rights lease prepayments 189 189 
Gain on disposal of property, plant, equipment and 

land use right (7) (449) 
Employee share options 71 152 
Finance costs 1,562 1,336 
Finance income (440) (25)

Operating (loss)/profit before working capital changes (1,326) 541
Changes in working capital:

Inventories (221) (3,595)
Trade and other receivables (951) (1,032)
Trade and other payables 7,018 1,995

Cash generated/(outflow) from continuing operations 4,520 (2,091)
Discontinued operations 8 26 2,075

Cash generated/(outflow) from operations 4,546 (16)
Interest received 56 25
Income taxes paid (1,222) (1,613)

Net cash generated/(outflow) from operating 
activities 3,380 (1,604)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (1,468) (744)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 16 45 
Discontinued operations 8 (1,354) (1,726)

Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,806) (2,425)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank loan 2,192 4,147
Repayment of bank loan (498) -
Net cash proceeds from issue of ordinary shares of CFC - 2,497
Proceeds from shareholders’ loan 117 1,396
Net cash flow arising from convertible loan notes 45 240
Proceeds from directors’ loan 87 -
Interest paid (885) (797)
Dividend paid - (93)

Net cash generated from financing activities 1,058 7,390

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,632 3,361

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (248) 305 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 6,584 2,918 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 7,968 6,584

consoLiDateD statement oF casH FLows
For tHe Year enDeD 31 DecemBer 2012
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Notes
Year ended

31 December 2012
Year ended

31 December 2011
 £’000  £’000 

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before taxation  (1,055) (821)

Adjustments for:
Employee share options  71  152 
Finance costs  729  534 
Finance income  -  (6)

Operating loss before working capital changes  (255) (141)
Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables  (98)  (150)
Trade and other payables  276  16 

Cash used in operations  (77) (275)
Interest received - -

Net cash used in operating activities  (77) (275)

Cash flows from investing activities
Advance to subsidiary  -  (1,294)
proceeds from advance from subsidiary  176 (2,102)

Net cash generated/(outflow) from investing activities  176 (3,396)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceed from shareholder’s loan  -  1,294 
Proceeds from convertible loan notes 25.1  45  250 
Payment of transaction costs 25.2  -  (10)
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary shares  -  2,496 
Proceeds from director’s loan 56 -
Interest paid  (253)  (288)
Dividend paid  -  (93)

Net cash (outflow)/generated from financing 
activities  (152) 3,649

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (53)  (22)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  51  (8)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  8  38 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  6 8

companY statement oF casH FLows
For tHe Year enDeD 31 DecemBer 2012
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Shares 
to be 

issued 
reserve

Reverse 
acquisition

reserve
Merger 
reserve

PRC 
statutory
reserves

Convertible 
loan notes 

- equity

Foreign 
exchange 

translation 
reserve

Retained 
profits

Total equity
attributable

to owners 
of the 

parent

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 January 2011  2,656  25,678 148  (23,992)  2,216  3,098  152  8,352  16,181  34,489 

Employee share options 
Granted  - - 152  -  - -  -  -  - 152 

Transfer to PRC statutory 
Reserves  -  -  -  -  -  483  -  -  (483)  - 

Issue of ordinary shares 202 2,294 - - - - - - - 2,496

Capital reduction - (3,000) - - - - - - 3,000 -

Convertible loan notes  
– Equity - - - - - - 8 - - 8

Dividend paid - - -  -  -  -  -  -  (93)  (93) 

Transactions with 
owners 202 (706) 152  -  -  483 8 -  2,424  2,563

Profit for the period  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (706)  (706) 

Other comprehensive 
income:

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign 
operations  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,548  - 2,548

Total comprehensive 
income for the period  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,548  (706) 1,842

Rounding adjustment - - - - - - - - 1 1

As at 31 December 2011 2,858  24,972 300  (23,992)  2,216  3,581  160 10,900  17,900 38,895 

As at 1 January 2012 2,858 24,972 300  (23,992) 2,216 3,581 160 10,900 17,900 38,895 

Employee share options 
Granted  - - 71  -  - -  -  -  - 71 

Transfer to PRC statutory 
Reserves  -  -  -  -  -  252  -  -  (252)  - 

Convertible loan notes  
– Equity  -  -  -  -  -  -   -  -  - 

Transactions with 
owners -  - 71 - - 252 - - (252) 71 

Profit for the period - - -  - - - -  -  (5,423)  (5,423)

Other comprehensive 
income:

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign 
operations  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (1,872) - (1,872) 

Total comprehensive 
income for the period  -  -  -  -  -  -  - (1,872) (5,423) (7,295) 

As at 31 December 2012 2,858 24,972 371  (23,992) 2,216 3,833 160 9,028 12,225 31,671 

consoLiDateD statement oF cHanGes in equitY
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Shares to 
be issued 

reserve

Merger 
relief 

reserve

Convertible 
loan notes 

- equity
Accumulated 

losses 

Total equity 
attributable 

to owners 
of the 

parent

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 January 2011 2,656 6,037 148 18,553 152  (1,971) 25,575 

Employee share options granted  -  -  152  -  -  -  152

Issue of ordinary shares 202 2,294 - - -  - 2,496 

Capital reduction -  (3,000) - - - 3,000  - 

Convertible loan notes - equity  -  -  -  -  8  - 8

Dividend paid - - - - -  (93)  (93)

Transactions with owners 202  (706) 152 - 8 2,907 2,563 

Loss for the period - - - - -  (821)  (821)

As at 31 December 2011 2,858 5,331 300 18,553 160 115 27,317 

As at 1 January 2012 2,858 5,331 300 18,553 160 115 27,317 

Employee share options granted - - 71 - -  - 71 

　 　 　 　 　 　 　

Convertible loan notes - equity - - - - -  - - 

　 　 　 　 　 　 　

Transactions with owners - - 71 - - - 71 

Loss for the period - - - - -  (1,054)  (1,054)

As at 31 December 2012 2,858 5,331 371 18,553 160 (939) 26,334 

companY statement oF cHanGes in equitY
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1. General Information

Principal activities of China Food Company Plc (“China Food” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) include the development, manufacture and distribution of cooking and dipping sauces and animal 
feed products. The Group’s main operations are in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

China Food, a public limited company, is the Group’s ultimate parent company. It is incorporated and 
domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of China Food’s registered office is 49 Whitehall, London 
SW1A2BX. China Food’s shares are listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.

2. Changes in accounting policies

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been 
adopted early by the Group.

Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies 
for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s financial statements is 
provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The following is a list of newly issued standards but not yet effective:

- IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2014)
- IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (effective 1 January 2014)
- IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective 1 January 2014)
- IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (effective 1 January 2013)
- IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised June 2011) (effective 1 January 2013)
- IAS 27 (Revised), Separate Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2014)
- IAS 28 (Revised), Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective 1 January 2014)
- Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets - Amendments to IFRS 7 (effective 1 July 2011)
- Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets - Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes (effective 

1 January 2012)
- Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income - Amendments to IAS 1 (effective 1 July 2012)
- Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IFRS 7 (effective 

1 January 2013)
- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IAS 32 (effective 1 January 2014)
- Mandatory Effective Date and Transition Disclosures - Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 (effective 

1 January 2015)
- Government Loans - Amendments to IFRS 1 (effective 1 January 2013)
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies of the Group are set out below.

3.1 Going Concern

The Group income statement reports a loss for the year of £5.4 million (2011: loss £0.7 million) and 
the statement of financial position shows net current liabilities as at 31 December 2012 of £8.2 million  
(2011: £7.1 million). 

As described in the Chairman’s statement and Directors report, the group has invested significantly in recent 
years in the development of new production facilities for both the condiments and feeds businesses and the 
development and market penetration of the new Xaka brand. These investments have been funded through a 
combination of operational cash generation, shareholder loans, bank facilities, convertible loan notes and the 
issue of new equity.

The result for the period and the net current liabilities position are influenced by the investments that are being 
made and the current Group financing structure, notably where bank facilities in China are normally repayable 
within one year. During the period, the Group secured new bank loans of £1.5 million from the WeiHai City 
Commercial Bank to meet working capital requirements. Subsequent to the year end, the Group repaid bank 
facilities of £2.5 million and in May 2013, agreed a new £2.0 million facility with ICBC.  

Whilst the Group has been able to secure bank facilities within China to fund working capital requirements, 
regulatory controls on the remittance of cash outside China has, on occasions restricted to Group’s ability 
to settle liabilities arising in Singapore and the UK to payment terms. Since the period end, the Group has 
successfully put in place a structure to remit funds out of China but remains subject to regulatory consents. 

The new feed factory has been completed with construction costs being met from operational cash flows 
and other forms of finance as noted above. Production has commenced and the Group does not expect any 
further significant capital investment. As noted in the Chairman’s statement the Group continues to pursue its 
strategy to dispose of the feed business, the proceeds being used to restructure the Group’s debt and allow 
continued focus on the development of the condiments business.  

As highlighted in Note 18 to the financial statements, the existing convertible loan notes A&B and convertible 
loan note C were initially amended during the year and subsequently, their accruing interests and conversion 
terms amended and the redemption terms extended until 3 November 2014.

Consequently, the directors have prepared and reviewed forecasts and budgets for the coming year and 
extended their review to 31 December 2014. The forecasts have been drawn up with appropriate regard for 
the current macroeconomic environment, reasonable expectations of trading performance and the particular 
circumstances in which the Group operates. These were prepared with reference to historic and current 
industry knowledge, taking future strategy of the Group into account.  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.1 Going Concern (continued)

The major assumptions within these forecasts include, the disposal of the Feeds business and redemption 
of convertible loan notes on or before 3 November 2014, the continuing ability to secure bank facilities within 
China to fund working capital requirements and the continuing support of shareholders in respect of current 
and on demand shareholder loans (as set out in Note 19) until the Group’s debt can be restructured. The 
Directors have the ability to amend the scale of investment in the development of the condiments business 
dependent upon available cash and working capital. Combined with access to the operational cash flows, 
previously utilised to fund the construction of the feeds business should enable the operations of the Group to 
service its liabilities as they fall due.

The timing of completion and proceeds from of the disposal of the Feeds business is uncertain, which 
together with regulatory restraints around the remittance of funds from China may continue to restrict the 
Group’s ability to settle liabilities outside China and redeem the convertible loan notes to terms. The Directors 
have concluded that the combination of these circumstances may represent a material uncertainty that casts 
doubt upon the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. To mitigate these circumstances the 
Directors are also pursuing a number of alternative sources of funding.

3.2 Presentation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements (Revised 2007). The Group has elected to present the ‘Statement of comprehensive income’ in 
two statements: the ‘Income statement’ and a ‘Statement of comprehensive income’.

3.3 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of all the entities within the Group. 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting date as the parent company. 
Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the individual financial statements of the company 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by 
the EU and under the historical cost convention. The measurement bases are set out below.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.

(a) Reverse acquisition accounting

In December 2007, the company successfully completed the acquisition of Full Fortune and its 
subsidiaries by an issuance of 40,333,333 new ordinary shares of the company and cash consideration 
of £5,000,000.

Due to the relative values of the companies, the former Full Fortune shareholders became majority 
shareholders with 60.74 per cent. of the enlarged ordinary share capital in China Food, and hence hold 
the majority of the voting rights. Further, the executive management of Full Fortune Group became that 
of China Food and the Corporate Headquarters of the Group was moved to the Full Fortune premises in 
Singapore. A qualitative and quantitative analysis of these factors led the Directors to conclude that in this 
transaction Full Fortune has the controlling interest and should be treated as the accounting acquirer.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Reverse acquisition accounting (continued)

In determining the appropriate accounting treatment for the reverse acquisition, the Directors considered 
the Application Supplement to IFRS 3, Business Combinations. However, they concluded that this 
transaction fell outside of the scope of IFRS 3, since China Food, whose activities prior to the acquisition 
were limited to the management of cash resources and the maintenance of its listing, did not constitute 
a business. It was therefore determined that the transaction should be accounted for in a manner that 
was similar to the reverse accounting as described in IFRS 3, but without recognising goodwill.

In accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, in 
developing an appropriate accounting policy the Directors have considered the pronouncements of 
other standard-setting bodies and specifically looked to accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (“US GAAP”) for guidance (FAS 141, Business Combinations).

Under US GAAP, in a reverse acquisition, the target company (Full Fortune) is treated as the acquiring 
company for financial reporting purposes (no purchase accounting adjustments) and the fair value 
of the issuing company’s common shares (China Food) is recognised, together with adjustments 
necessary to reflect the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets at their fair value with any 
remainder assigned to goodwill (full application of purchase accounting).

Under US GAAP such a transaction is treated as an equity issuance by the operating entity (in this 
case Full Fortune). As a result, the cost of the combination is deemed to equal the net monetary assets 
of the acquiree (China Food) plus transaction costs. Only costs incurred by the “target” company can 
be capitalised.

As a consequence of applying the reverse acquisition accounting policy described, a reverse 
acquisition reserve was created (see note 3.15).

(b) Business combinations involving entities under common control

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the creation of the Full Fortune Group under 
the restructuring exercise before the completion of the reverse acquisition was treated as a business 
combination involving entities under common control. A business combination is a “common control 
combination” if the combining entities are ultimately controlled by the same party (including the same 
individual shareholder or a group of shareholders acting together in accordance with a contractual 
arrangement) both before and after the combination and the common control is not transitory.

Business combinations involving entities under common control fall outside the scope of IFRS 3: 
Business Combinations. In accordance with IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors, management have considered the pronouncements of other standard-setting 
bodies in developing an accounting policy for common control combinations, in particular the pooling 
of interest-type method prescribed under US GAAP in paragraphs D11 to D18 of SFAS 141, Business 
Combinations. As a result, the Full Fortune Group accounts for business combinations involving entities 
under common control using pooling of interest-type accounting. Under this policy the assets and 
liabilities of the acquiree are recorded at book value not fair value (although adjustments are made to 
achieve uniform accounting policies), intangible assets and contingent liabilities are recognised only to 
the extent that they were recognised by the acquiree in accordance with applicable IFRS, no goodwill 
is recorded, any expenses of the combination are written off immediately in the income statement and 
comparative amounts are restated as if the combination had taken place at the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period presented.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c) Subsidiary undertakings

As at 31 December 2011 and 2012, China Food had the following subsidiaries:

Name of subsidiary
Date and place of 
establishment

Percentage 
of equity 

attributable to 
China Food Principal activities

Full Fortune Holdings Pte Ltd 26 May 2005
Singapore

100% Holding company

Held by Full Fortune

Fuss Feed (Weifang) Co., Ltd
(“Fuss Feed”)
富氏饲料(潍坊)有限公司

28 November 1994
PRC

100% Manufacture and sale  
of animal feed

Fortune Food (China) Co., Ltd
(“Fortune Food”)
富氏食品（中国）有限公司

24 June 2005
PRC

100% Manufacture and sales 
of condiments

Held by Fuss Feed

Shandong Fu-Rich Co., Ltd
(“Fu-Rich”)
山东富氏味业有限公司

7 August 2001
PRC

100% Manufacture and sale  
of condiments

All of the above subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements.

(d) Investments

Investments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost, less provisions for diminution in carrying value.

3.4 Significant accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgments are made in the preparation of the financial 
statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are 
based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

Critical judgments

The judgments made which, in the opinion of the Directors, are critical in drawing up the financial statements 
are as follows:

(i) Accounting for the reverse acquisition transaction

As explained in note 3.3 (a), the Directors are of the opinion that this transaction fell outside of the 
scope of IFRS 3, and as such they needed to devise an appropriate accounting policy by reference 
to the pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies. The judgment taken was that US GAAP 
provides the most appropriate basis in this case, and the accounting policy note sets out the 
accounting implications of following this approach.

(ii) Accounting for the Full Fortune business combination

As explained in note 3.3 (b), the Directors are of the opinion that this transaction fell outside of the 
scope of IFRS 3, and as such they needed to devise an appropriate accounting policy by reference 
to the pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies. The judgment taken was that US GAAP 
provides the most appropriate basis in this case, and the accounting policy note sets out the 
accounting implications of following this approach.

(iii) Classification of Land Use Rights as Operating Leases

Within the PRC it is the practice for the State to issue Land Use Rights to individuals or entities. 
Such rights are evidenced through the granting of a Land Use Rights certificate, which gives the 
holder the right to use the land (including the construction of buildings thereon) for a given length of 
time. An upfront payment is made for these rights. The Directors judge that the substance of these 
arrangements is an operating lease over the land, and that the upfront payment represents prepaid 
lease rentals. As such a prepayment is recognised in the balance sheet, analysed between current and 
non-current assets. The prepayment is amortised to spread the lease cost over the duration of the term 
of the land use rights, as specified in the lease certificate. See also notes 3.7 and 12.

(iv) Functional currency of China Food Company PLC

The Company is incorporated in England and Wales.   The registered office is 49 Whitehall, London 
and the Company’s shares are listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.  Certain of 
the Directors are based in the UK and remunerated through this Company.   The UK head office has 
responsibility for corporate functions such as fund raising, treasury, company secretarial and other 
aspects in relation to maintaining the AIM listing.   The company incurs costs in respect of these 
activities which are denominated in GBP, and are sufficiently significant for the Directors to be satisfied 
that the Company operates as an entity in its own right as envisaged under IAS 21.   In turn it levies a 
management fee to its subsidiaries in respect of services performed.  As such the Directors conclude 
that the functional currency of the Company is GBP.

China Food AR2012_Financial_270613_v8.indd   42 27-Jun-13   2:41:35 PM



ANNUAL REPORT 2012

43Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts
FoR the YeaR eNDeD 31 DecemBeR 2012

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

Critical judgments (continued)

(v) Account for deferred income taxes

As disclosed in Note 9, as Fortune Food has not demonstrated profitability, it may not be able to 
fully utilise the tax losses against its future profits within the 5 years time frame as specified by the 
Chinese Authorities. Therefore, no additional deferred tax asset was recognised for the year ended  
31 December 2012 beyond the £1.3 million recognised in the prior year.

(vi)  Accounting treatment for animal feed business

Management is in the process of disposing the animal feed business, the Group reclassified the assets 
and liabilities pertaining to animal feed activities (please see note 20) to “held for sale” in accordance 
with IFRS 5 “Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”. The results of 
discontinued operations are presented separately in the income statement (please see note 8).

(vii) Accounting for extension of convertible loan notes

On 2 November 2012, the Group entered into an amendment of the terms of its A, B and C convertible 
loan notes. The Group estimated the present value of the future cash flows of the amended note 
against the pre-amendment note. If the resulting present values reflect a change of greater than 10%, 
the pre-amendment note is accounted for as an extinguishment of debt and the issuance of a new 
compound debt instrument. Alternatively, the amendment is treated as a modification of the original 
debt instrument. The amendment met the criteria for extinguishment treatment, but the overall effect on 
the income statement of this exercise by using a 25% discounted rate would be immaterial.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance 
sheet date are discussed below. These are included for completeness, although it is the Directors’ view that 
none of these have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group evaluates whether items of property, plant and equipment have suffered any impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may 
not be recoverable, in accordance with the stated accounting policy. Under the requirements of IAS 
36, Impairment of Assets, when the market capitalisation of an entity exceeds the net assets of that 
entity, this is considered to be an indicator of impairment. Therefore an impairment review has been 
undertaken in accordance with IAS 36. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been 
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates which 
are explained in note 11. The carrying amounts of these assets are disclosed in note 11.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii) Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful 
lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be within 2 to 
20 years. These are common life expectancies applied in the industry in which the Group operates. 
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic 
useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be 
revised.

3.5 Functional and foreign currency

(a) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of China Food 
and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange 
rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at 
the balance sheet date are recognised in the income statement except for exchange differences arising 
on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries, which are 
charged/credited to other comprehensive income and recognised in the currency translation reserve in 
the consolidated statement of financial position and recognised in the consolidated income statement 
on disposal of the subsidiary.

(b) Foreign currency translations

The results and financial position of foreign operations are translated into the presentational currency of 
China Food (GBP) using the following procedures:

• Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing exchange 
rate ruling at the balance sheet date; and

• Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates for 
the year, which approximate the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

All resulting exchange differences are charged/credited through other comprehensive income and 
recognised in the currency translation reserve.

China Food AR2012_Financial_270613_v8.indd   44 27-Jun-13   2:41:35 PM



ANNUAL REPORT 2012

45Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts
FoR the YeaR eNDeD 31 DecemBeR 2012

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.6 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, 
plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

• Buildings – 20 years
• Plant and machinery – 10 years
• Equipment – 2 - 5 years
• Motor vehicles – 5 years

Depreciation of the production facilities of the new soya sauce factory is computed based on its production 
capacity.   This includes the plant and machinery and certain storage buildings where usage fluctuates 
according to capacity of output.     This will match the economic consumption of the asset with the 
depreciation charge of the new factory where the plant is 77% (2011: 27%) productive. A unit of production 
method is therefore applied.  Management has determined the number of units the relevant assets will handle 
during its economic life and depreciation has been applied accordingly.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure 
that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected 
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and 
equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the 
income statement in the year the asset is derecognised.

3.7 Leased assets

In accordance with IAS 17 Leases, the economic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the lessee 
if the lessee bears substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset, with 
the related asset recognised at the time of inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if 
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments plus incidental payments, if any, to be borne by 
the lessee, and with a corresponding amount recognised as a finance leasing liability. On such leases, the 
interest element of leasing payments represents a constant proportion of the capital balance outstanding and 
is charged to the income statement over the period of the lease.

All other leases are regarded as operating leases and the payments made under them are charged to the 
income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are spread over the term of 
the lease.

The land use rights held by the Group are regarded as operating leases. The amounts paid for these rights 
are treated as lease prepayments and are amortised over the period for which the rights have been granted in 
accordance with the land use rights certificate.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows 
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement as ‘impairment losses’.

3.9 Financial assets

Financial assets are assigned to the different categories on initial recognition, depending on the characteristics 
of the instrument and its purpose. All financial assets of the Group are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment losses. Any change in their value is recognised in the income statement.

3.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits.

3.11 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss 
is recognised in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the 
extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

3.12 Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average 
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.14 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables, payables to related parties and interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings. Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are initially 
recognised at fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the amortisation process. The liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or expired.

Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes issued by the Group are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability 
component and an equity component. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is 
estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. The difference between 
the proceeds of issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component, 
representing the embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the Group, is included in equity.

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible loan notes based 
on their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the equity component is charged 
directly against equity.

The interest expense on the liability component is calculated by applying the prevailing market interest rate for 
similar non-convertible debt to the liability component of the instrument. The difference between this amount 
and the interest paid is added to the carrying amount of the convertible loan note.

Recognition and derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.15 Equity

For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the share capital 
represents the nominal value of the issued share capital of China Food. Share premium represents the excess 
over nominal value of the fair value of consideration received for equity shares, net of expenses of the share 
issue.

For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the merger reserve 
represents the combined paid-up registered capital of the subsidiaries of Full Fortune less the payment made 
by Fuss Feed for the acquisition of Fu-Rich. It arises as a result of adopting the pooling of interest-type 
accounting method described in note 3.3(b).

The PRC statutory reserves comprise the capital reserves and the surplus reserves of the subsidiaries of Full 
Fortune established in the PRC which were set up in accordance with their respective articles of association 
and the relevant PRC laws and regulations.

The shares to be issued reserve represents equity-settled share-based payments until such share options are 
exercised.

The reverse acquisition reserve arises as a result of following the accounting method described in note 3.3(a) 
in respect of the RTO completed in 2007.

Foreign currency translation reserve represents the differences arising from translation of investments in 
overseas subsidiaries.

3.16 Share-based payments

All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the period 
in which the associated goods or services are provided.

The Group operates equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. None of the Group’s 
plans feature any options for a cash settlement.

All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at 
their fair values. Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fair values of employees’ 
services are determined indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. This fair 
value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of non-market vesting conditions.

All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an expense in profit or loss with a corresponding 
credit to “Shares to be issued reserve”. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense 
is allocated over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options 
expected to vest. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options 
that are expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that the 
number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. Any cumulative adjustment prior to 
vesting is recognised in the current period. No adjustment is made to any expense recognised in prior periods 
if share options ultimately exercised are different to that estimated on vesting.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.16 Share-based payments (continued)

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up 
to the nominal value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as 
share premium. All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are 
measured at their fair values at the date the services are provided by reference to the fair value of the services 
provided.

3.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing 
costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and 
the expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are 
ready for their intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recorded.

3.18 Employee benefits - Defined contribution plans

Full Fortune, a Singapore incorporated company, makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme 
in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme.

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group contribute to state-
sponsored retirement plans for their employees in the PRC at rates of 20% of the basic salaries of their 
employees, and have no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits. 
The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired 
employees.

The pensions costs charged against profits are the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the 
accounting period.

3.19 Segment reporting

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be determined based on the Group’s internal reporting to the Chief 
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”). The CODM has been determined to be the Executive Directors as the 
Executive Directors are primarily responsible for the allocation of resources to segments and the assessment 
of performance of the segments.

The CODM has changed its operating segments as a result of the Group’s intention to sell the animal feed 
business, results for the animal feed operating segment are presented as discontinued operations in the 
current period ended 31 December 2012 and the comparatives, The CODM has identified its operating 
segments, which represent the main product types provided by the Group. The CODM currently identifies the 
Group’s two products, soya sauce and vinegar/bean paste as operating segments. 2011 comparatives have 
been restated using the new measure.

There were no inter-segment sales and transfers during the period under review.

China Food AR2012_Financial_270613_v8.indd   49 27-Jun-13   2:41:35 PM



CHINA FOOD  COMPANY PLC

50 Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts
FoR the YeaR eNDeD 31 DecemBeR 2012

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.20 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

(a) the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
(b) the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
(c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group;
(e) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

For both the Feed and Condiments businesses these conditions are considered to have been satisfied when 
the customer either collects or takes delivery of the goods.

Interest income is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method) unless collectibility is in 
doubt.

3.21 Taxes

(a) Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

(b)  Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is 
accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred 
tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the years when the liability is settled or 
the asset realised.

(c) Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

• Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

• Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
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4. Revenue

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Condiments 20,101 16,890

5. Other operating income

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Sundry income 68 457

Other operating income in 2011 included £456,000 gain on disposal of land use right and fixed assets of Fuss 
Feed (please see note 12).

6. Finance income and finance costs

Finance income and costs include all interest-related income and expenses. The following amounts have been 
included in the income statement line for the reporting periods presented:

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000
Loans and receivables:
  - Cash and short-term deposits  56  25 
Gain on foreign currency financial liabilities 384 - 
Finance income  440  25

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Interest expense for bank borrowings at amortised cost 650 509 
Interest expense on shareholders’ loan
Interest expense on convertible loan

 420
492

 216
474

Loss on foreign currency financial liabilities - 137
Finance costs  1,562  1,336
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7. Loss before tax

Group

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

Profit before tax is arrived at after charging: £’000 £’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:
- Buildings 845 810
- Plant and machinery 918 368
- Equipment 37 27
- Motor vehicles 65 59

1,865 1,264

Gain on disposal of property, plant, equipment and  
land use right 7 449

Amortisation of land use rights lease prepayment 189 189
Cost of inventories expensed 13,928 31,655

Auditors’ remuneration:
Payable to the company’s auditors:
- audit of the consolidated financial statements  68  40
Payable to the company’s auditors and its associates  

  for other services:
- audit of the financial statements of the company’s  

  subsidiaries pursuant to Legislation 90 79
Payable to the PRC auditors 2 1

Average number of persons employed by the Group (including executive directors) during the year:

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

Production 455 382
Sales and marketing 517 368
Administration 110 108

1,082 858

In accordance with the Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its individual 
income statement. The result for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 was a loss of £1,054,000 (2011: 
loss of £821,000).
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8. Discontinued operations

The results of the feed business for the year ended 31 December 2012 and year ended 31 December 
2011 are included in discontinued operations in the Group’s consolidated income statement. The results of 
discontinued operations are as follows:

Notes
Year ended

31 December 2012

(Restated)
Year ended

31 December 2011
£’000 £’000

Revenue 4 21,842 23,337
Operating expenses (21,853) (21,749)
Profit before taxation (11) 1,588
Taxation 9 3 (397)
Total (loss)/profit arising from discontinued 

operations (8) 1,191

During the year, discontinued operations contributed to a net cash inflow of £26,000 (2011: £2,075,000) 
to the Group’s net operating cash flows and £1,354,000 outflow to investing activities (2011: £1,726,000 
outflow).

9. Income tax

The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000
Current income tax
Provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax 849 1,100
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax of Fortune Food - (1,235)
Deferred income tax of Fuss Feed - 106
Income tax expense recognised in the  

income statement 849 (29)

China Food is subject to a United Kingdom Tax rate of 25% (2011: 28%).

Full Fortune is subject to a Singapore Income Tax rate of 17% (2011:17%). As Full Fortune has no trading 
income, the expenses incurred cannot be carried forward as tax losses.

Fuss Feed is subject to a PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2011: 25%).

Fu-Rich is subject to a PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2011: 25%).

Fortune Food is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax of 25% (2011: 25%).
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9. Income tax (continued)

(b) A reconciliation of the continuing operations between tax expense and the product of accounting profit 
multiplied by the applicable corporate tax rates is as follows:

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Accounting (loss)/profit before tax (4,566) (1,926)

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits / 
losses in the countries concerned (see above) (1,141) (482)

Adjustments:
- Non-deductible expenses 6 1
- Unrelieved tax losses 1,984 452
Income tax expense recognised in the income 

statement 849 (29)

The deferred tax asset recognised for the year was £1.3 million (2011: £1.3 million) calculated on the 
losses of Fortune Food at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the years when the deferred 
income tax asset will be realised. The deferred tax liability recognised at year ended 31 December 
2012 was £108,000 (2011: £113,000) calculated on the basis of net profit of disposal of Fuss Feed’s 
land use right and the plant on top of the land which is not a taxable income for the year ended 
31 December 2011.

Fortune Food has estimated losses of RMB83.9 million (2011: RMB18.8 million) available to carry 
forward for which no deferred tax has been recognised. This is because Fortune Food has not 
demonstrated its profitability and may not be able to fully utilise the tax losses against its future profits 
within 5 years which is the time frame specified by the Chinese Authorities.

The Company has unutilised tax losses of estimated £2,024,000 available to carry forward. 
Management is presently reviewing the group’s tax position and expects to crystalise this asset going 
forward.
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10. Earnings per share and dividends

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

Loss after tax and earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders (£’000) (5,423) (706)

Loss after tax and earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders for calculation of diluted earnings (£’000) (5,423) (706)

Weighted average number of shares (used for basic 
earnings per share) 71,446,972 69,764,645

Dilutive effect - -
Dilutive weighted average number of shares (used for dilutive 

earnings per share) 71,446,972 69,764,645

Basic loss per share (pence) (7.59) (1.01)

Diluted loss per share (pence) (7.59) (1.01)
Dividend per share (pence) - 0.13

Earnings and diluted earnings per share has been calculated on 71,446,972 shares (2011: 69,764,645 
shares), and on attributable loss of £5,423,000 (2011: loss of £706,000).

The warrant granted to Strand Partners to subscribe for 1,328,000 shares (2011: 1,328,000 shares) at £0.50 
per share, the 2009 Options granted to the Directors and employees to subscribe for 4,648,000 shares 
(2011: 4,648,000) at £0.355 per share and the 2011 Options to the Directors and employee to subscribe for 
1,950,000 shares (2011: 1,950,000) at £0.53 per share, the convertible loan notes A&B issued at £0.155 per 
share and the convertible loan notes C issued at £0.155 per share had no dilution effect on the calculation of 
the earnings per share as the market price of the Company’s shares was lower than the exercise prices and 
conversion price at 31 December 2012.

No dividend was proposed for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: £93,000 distributed in November 
2011).
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10. Earnings per share and dividends (continued)

Earnings per share – continuing operations
Year ended

31 December 2012
Year ended

31 December 2011

Loss after tax and earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders (£’000) (5,415) (1,897)

Loss after tax and earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders for calculation of diluted earnings (£’000) (5,415) (1,897)

Weighted average number of shares (used for basic 
earnings per share) 71,446,972 69,764,645

Dilutive effect - -
Dilutive weighted average number of shares  

(used for dilutive earnings per share) 71,446,972 69,764,645

Basic loss per share (pence) (7.58) (2.72)

Diluted loss per share (pence) (7.58) (2.72)

Earnings per share – discontinued operations
Year ended

31 December 2012
Year ended

31 December 2011

(Loss)/profit after tax and earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders (£’000) (8) 1,191

(Loss)/profit after tax and earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders for calculation of diluted earnings (£’000) (8) 1,191

Weighted average number of shares (used for basic 
earnings per share) 71,446,972 69,764,645

Dilutive effect - -
Dilutive weighted average number of shares  

(used for dilutive earnings per share) 71,446,972 69,764,645

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (pence) (0.01) 1.71

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (pence) (0.01) 1.71
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Buildings
Construction

in progress
Plant and 

machineries Equipment
Motor 

vehicles Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost            
As at 
31 December 2010 23,975 5 17,598 194 418 42,190
Additions - - 565 67 113 745
Disposal (343) (5) (47) (14) (72) (481)
Foreign currency 

translation adjustment 1,255 - 969 13 25 2,262
As at 
31 December 2011 24,887 - 19,085 260 484 44,716
Additions - - 1,407 61 - 1,468
Disposal - - (3) (4) (77) (84)
Foreign currency 

translation adjustment (894) - (699) (10) (17) (1,620)
As at 
31 December 2012 23,992 - 19,790 307 390 44,480

Accumulated depreciation
As at 
31 December 2010 1,755 - 654 112 221 2,742
Charge for the year 810 - 368 27 59 1,264
Written back on disposal (203) - (35) (12) (37) (287)
Foreign currency 

translation adjustment 130 - 55 7 13 205
As at 
31 December 2011 2,492 - 1,042 134 256 3,924
Charge for the year 845 - 918 37 65 1,865
Transfers - - 4 (4) - -
Written back on disposal - - (2) (3) (69) (74)
Foreign currency 

translation adjustment (97) - (46) (5) (9) (157)
As at 
31 December 2012 3,240 - 1,916 159 243 5,558

         
Net book value          
As at 
31 December 2012 20,752 - 17,874 148 147 38,922
As at 
31 December 2011 22,395 - 18,043 126 228 40,792

As at 31 December 2012 the buildings with net book values of £15,729,000 were pledged as security for the 
bank loans (2011: £15,045,000) (note 17).
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11. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Apart from the considerations described in determining the value in use of the cash-generating unit described 
above, management is not currently aware of any other probable changes that would necessitate changes in 
its key estimates.

12. Land use rights lease prepayments

Group

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Net book value as at 1 January 8,605 8,558
Amortisation of payments over lease term (189) (189)
Disposal - (278)
Written back on amortisation - 81 
Foreign currency translation difference (307) 433 
Net book value as at 31 December 8,109  8,605 

Of which:
  Current 151  175 
  Non-current 7,331  7,765 
  Assets held for sale (please see note 20) 627 665

8,109  8,605

The Group’s land use rights lease prepayments are being amortised straight-line over 45 to 50 year terms.

As at 31 December 2012 the land use rights lease prepayments with net book values of £7,159,000 were 
pledged as security for the bank loans (2011: £7,595,000 and 2010: £3,051,000) (note 17).

In December 2011, Fuss Feed disposed of its land use right and the plant on the land. The group recognised 
a profit of £456,000 on this disposal.
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13. Inventories

Group

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Raw materials  451  669 
Work-in-progress  4,708  4,371 
Finished goods  672  571 

5,831  5,611

14. Trade and other receivables

Group

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Trade receivables 1,278  543 
Other receivables 2,096  1,948
Prepayments 197 126 
VAT recoverable  7  9 

 3,578 2,626

Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest bearing. They are recognised at their original invoice 
amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition less provision for impairment where this is 
required. No provision for impairment has been recorded in 2012 or 2011. Past due not impaired balances are 
not material. All trade receivables are denominated in RMB.

Company

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Other receivables 2 2
Prepayments 3 3

5 5
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15. Cash and bank balances

Group

The cash and bank balances of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

RMB  7,944  6,573 
SGD  16  1 
GBP  8  10 

 7,968 6,584

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

The bills payable issued by the Group that are due on a specific date (please see note 16) were secured 
by the fixed deposit of RMB43.8 million (2011: RMB16.9 million) placed with the bank. This fixed deposit is 
restricted as to use and is denominated in RMB.

The conversion of RMB denominated cash and bank balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of 
these funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by 
the PRC government.

Company

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

GBP 6 8

16. Trade and other payables

Group

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

 Trade payables  2,440 2,331
 Other payables  3,056  1,163 
 Bills payable 5,035  2,355 
 Accrued expenses 2,829  1,587 
 Receipts in advance  2,383  898 

 15,743 8,334
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16. Trade and other payables (continued)

Trade and other payables are unsecured and non-interest bearing. They are recognised at their original invoice 
amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

The bills payables are used interchangeably with trade payables to fund operations. As such, the Group treat 
bills payable in the same manner as trade payables. For all bill payables issued, the Group is required to place 
a fixed deposit with the bank for a percentage of the bill payable value.

Other payables for 2012 included £2.1 million (2011: £0.6 million) payable related to the acquisition of plant 
and machineries for the condiment business.

Company

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Other payables 371 231
Accrued expenses 596 271

967 502

17. Bank loans

All bank loans of the Group are denominated in RMB and secured by the buildings and land use rights 
lease prepayment. The effective interest rate of the bank loans for the year ended 31 December 2012 was 
approximately from 6.63% to 9.18% (2011: approximately from 6.10% to 8.53%).

The bank loans as at 31 December 2012 were secured by charges over the buildings and land use rights 
lease prepayments of the Group with net book values of £15,729,000 (2011: £15,045,000) and £7,159,000 
(2011: £7,595,000), respectively as at 31 December 2012.

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank of East Asia 25,000 30,000
Weifang City Commercial Bank 12,000 12,000
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China - 30,000
China Minsheng Banking Corp 30,000 -
Bank of Communications 20,000 13,000
Weihai City Commercial Bank 15,000 -

102,000 85,000
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18. Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A&B (Notes A&B) were issued between 3 November 2009 and 15 December 
2009. The Notes A&B were convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the date 
of issue of the notes and the final redemption dates of 3 November 2012 The loan notes were convertible at 
£0.32 per share. The effective interest rate used to calculate the interest charged to the income statement 
was 12%.

The convertible loan notes C (Notes C) were issued on 23 June 2010 and 11 March 2011. The Notes C were 
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the notes and the 
final redemption dates of 15 of June 2012. The loan notes were convertible at £0.50 per share. The effective 
interest rate use to calculate the interest charged to the income statement was 10%.

On 14 June 2012, the Company announced that, following approval by the majority of Note C holders, 
it has been agreed that the Note C has been rolled into the Note A. These terms have been amended to 
reflect those of the Notes A that carry a coupon of 10% per annum and are convertible at 32 pence per 
ordinary share. The modification is not deemed to be significant.

On 2 November 2012, the Company announced that, following approval by the majority of A, B & C Loan 
Noteholders, the terms of the A, B & C Loan Notes (“Loan Notes”) have been amended as detailed below.

The Loan Notes were initially extended to 31 January 2013 to accommodate the delay in Korean regulatory 
approvals required to consummate the disposal of the Fuss Feed subsidiary (“Disposal”) announced in July 
2012.

If the disposal was not completed by 31 January 2013 then the Loan Note holders have agreed to further 
extend the redemption date to 3 November 2014. A redemption premium of 1% of the Loan Note holder’s 
original holding will be payable on redemption. The Company and the Loan Note holders have agreed that 
interest will be charged at a rate of 12.5% p.a. from 3 November 2012 to 31 January 2013; from 1 February 
2013 to 30 June 2013, the rate of interest will rise to 15% p.a.; from 1 July to 30 September 2013 to 17.5% 
p.a.; from 1 October to 31 December 2013 to 20% p.a. and 25% p.a. thereafter until redemption. The Loan 
Note holders retain the right not to redeem their holding until maturity of the Loan Notes on 3 November 
2014, in which case the interest rate will be fixed at the rate prevailing on the date of the Company’s 
proposed redemption. In the event the Company is unable to transfer funds from the PRC to pay interest 
when due, the A, B, & C Loan Note holders have agreed that interest charged will be rolled up and 
compounded semi-annually to maturity.

On 1 February 2013, the Company announced that, the Board decided to terminate negotiations due to 
ongoing delays by Wisehand Planning Co. Ltd. As the disposal was unable to be completed by 31 January 
2013, the redemption dates of the Loan Notes is 3 November 2014 and the price at which the Loan Notes 
are convertible is re-set to £0.155 per share.
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18. Convertible loan notes (continued)

The net proceeds received from the issue of the convertible loan notes have been split between the liability 
element and an equity component, representing the fair value of the embedded option to convert the liability 
into equity of the Group, as follows:

Notes A&B Notes C Total
Gross 

amount
Transaction

 costs
Net 

amount
Gross 

amount
Transaction

 costs
Net 

amount
Net 

amount
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Convertible loan notes issued 3,004 188 2,816 1,425 96 1,329 4,145 
Equity component (127) (8) (119) (44) (3) (41) (160)
Liability component at date  

of issue 2,877 180 2,697 1,381 93 1,288 3,985 
Interest charged 1,090 329 1,419 
Interest paid (643) (154) (797)
Liability component at  

31 December 2012 3,144 　 　 1,463 4,607 

Notes A&B Notes C Total
Gross 

amount
Transaction

 costs
Net 

amount
Gross 

amount
Transaction

 costs
Net 

amount
Net 

amount
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Convertible loan notes issued 3,004 188 2,816 1,380 96 1,284 4,100 
Equity component  (127)  (8)  (119) (44) (3) (41) (160)
Liability component at date  

of issue 2,877 180 2,697 1,336 93 1,243 3,940 
Interest charged 740 186 926 
Interest paid (492) (98) (590)
Liability component at  

31 December 2011 2,945 1,331 4,276 

The directors estimate the fair value of the liability component of the convertible loan notes at 31 December 
2012 to be approximately £4,607,000 (2011: £4,276,000).
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19. Shareholders’ loans

Group

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

 £’000  £’000 

Current 1,949 1,889
Non-current 3,591 3,769 

5,540 5,658 

There are seven shareholder loans in place, of which five are current and two are non-current.

Two current are denominated in SGD, one of the loan £187,000 (2011: £102,000, interest free) is bearing 
interest of 10% per annum and the other loan of £503,000 (2011: £496,000) is interest free. Both SGD loans 
are unsecured and repayable on demand. One of the current loan £29,000 (2011: nil) is denominated in 
RMB, and is unsecured, interest free and payable on demand. The other current loans of £1,230,000 (2011: 
£1,291,000) are denominated in USD, and unsecured, bearing interest from 10% to 12.5% per annum.

The non-current portion of the loans are denominated in USD, and are unsecured, bearing interest of 6.65% 
per annum. These shareholder loans were rolled over and will now expire on 11 November 2014. The 
modification of the loans was not considered to be significant.

Company

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Current 1,230 1,291
Non-current 516 542

1,746 1,833

The current portion of loan from two shareholders is denominated in USD. It is unsecured and bears interest 
from 10% to 12.5% per annum.

The non-current portion of loan from a shareholder is denominated in USD. It is unsecured and bears interest 
of 6.65% per annum.
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20. Assets and liabilities held for sale

Notes
As at

31 December 2012
As at

31 December 2011
£’000 £’000

Non-current assets
Land use rights lease prepayments 12 627 665

Current assets
Inventories 564 597
Trade receivables* - -
Construction in progress** 3,080 1,726

Total assets held for sale 4,271 2,988

Current liabilities
Trade payables 1,562 1,559

Total liabilities held for sale 1,562 1,559

As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, the assets and associated relating to the animal feed were 
held for sale in light of the decision to sell this business.

* No trade receivables as all sales are made on cash basis.

** As at 31 December 2012, RMB31,202,000 (2011: RMB16,857,000) had been incurred for the construction 
of the new animal feed plant.

21. Share capital

No. of shares £’000
Authorised

As at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2012
  Ordinary shares of 4p each  100,000,000  4,000 

Issued, called up and fully paid

As at 1 January 2011 66,399,991 2,656
New shares issued in April 2011 5,046,981 202
As at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2012
  - Ordinary shares of 4p each  71,446,972  2,858 
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22. Share premium

Group

As at As at
31 December 2012 31 December 2011

 £’000  £’000

As at 1 January 24,972 25,678
Premium on shares issued on 28 April 2011 - 2,473
Share issue expenses - (179)
Capital reduction - (3,000)
As at December 31 24,972 24,972

Company

As at As at
31 December 2012 31 December 2011

 £’000  £’000

As at 1 January 5,331 6,037
Premium on shares issued on 28 April 2011 - 2,473
Share issue expenses - (179)
Capital reduction - (3,000)
As at December 31 5,331 5,331

The reduction of the share premium of the Company is due to the reduction the share capital confirmed by an 
order issued on June 22, 2011 by the High Court of Justice in England and Wales.

23. Employee remuneration

23.1 Employee benefits expenses

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2012 31 December 2011

 £’000  £’000 
Employee benefits expenses
- Salaries and allowances 3,540 2,472
- Pension scheme contributions 190 199
- Share-based payment 71 152

3,801 2,823

Remuneration of the Directors is disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration report and note 28.
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23. Employee remuneration (continued)

23.2 Share-based payments

23.2.1 Employee share option

The Group established a share option scheme in 2007 (the “Share Option Scheme”). On 10 June 2009 
(the “Date of Grant”), the Group granted 4,648,000 options to its Directors and employees with an 
exercise price of £0.355 per ordinary share. On 25 May 2011, the Group granted additional 1,950,000 
options to its Directors and employees with an exercise price of £0.53 per ordinary share. The purpose 
of granting options under the Share Option Scheme was to incentivise and reward the Group’s 
employees.

The Options may normally be exercised as follows:

2009 Options

Date of Grant Vesting dates Number of options granted Total
Directors Employees

10 June 2009 From the date of grant 464,800 1,084,533 1,549,333

From the date falling 12 months after 
the date of grant

464,800 1,084,533 1,549,333

From the date falling 24 months after 
the date of grant

464,800 1,084,534 1,549,334

1,394,400 3,253,600 4,648,000

2011 Options

Date of Grant Vesting dates Number of options granted Total
Directors Employees

25 May 2011 From the date of grant 583,334  66,666 650,000 

From the date falling 12 months after 
the date of grant

 583,333  66,667  650,000 

From the date falling 24 months after 
the date of grant

 583,333  66,667  650,000 

1,750,000  200,000 1,950,000 

As at 31 December 2012, all 2009 Options have vested and 1,300,000 options of 2011 Options have 
vested but none was exercised.
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23. Employee remuneration (continued)

23.2 Share-based payments (continued)

23.2.1 Employee share option (continued)

The fair values of options granted were determined using the Black Scholes model. The following 
principal assumptions were used in the valuation:

2011 Options 2009 Options

Exercise price (£) 0.53 0.355
Share price at date of grant (£) 0.485 0.313
Option life 3 years 730 days
Volatility 40% 20%
Risk free interest rate 0.50% 1.115%
Dividend yield  - -
Fair value at date of grant (£) 0.119 0.0225

The underlying expected volatility was determined by reference to historical data of the Company’s 
shares from the date of completion of the reverse takeover to the date of grant of the share options. 
Though the options have a contract life of ten years, a shorter option life is used as early exercise is 
expected.

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS2, a total charge of £71,000 (FY2011: £152,000) has 
been recognised in the income statement for the share options granted to the directors and certain 
employees. Charges for 2009 options and 2011 options amounted to nil (FY2011: £7,000) and 
£71,000 (FY2011: £145,000) respectively.

The weighted average contractual life remaining for 2011 Options and 2009 Options as at 
31 December 2012 was 1.4 years (FY2011: 2.4 years) and 6.4 years (FY2011: 7.4 years) respectively.

23.2.2 Other share-based payments

On 12 December 2007, the Company granted Strand Partners a warrant to subscribe for 1,328,000 
new ordinary shares of the company at a subscription price of £0.50 per share. These were granted in 
respect of the services they provided in relation to the acquisition of Full Fortune and its subsidiaries. 
The warrant may be exercised at any time during the period of five years from 10 December 2007. As 
at 31 December 2012 the warrant remained unexercised.

China Food AR2012_Financial_270613_v8.indd   68 27-Jun-13   2:41:37 PM



ANNUAL REPORT 2012

69Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts
FoR the YeaR eNDeD 31 DecemBeR 2012

24. Investments in subsidiaries

Company

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

 £’000  £’000 

Equity investment 25,167 25,167
Advance to a subsidiary 5,341 5,517
As at end of the period 30,508 30,684

Please refer to note 3.3(c) for details of the subsidiary companies of the Company.

The advance to a subsidiary was capitalised because repayment was neither planned nor likely in the 
foreseeable future and is viewed as a capital contribution to be treated as equity.

25 Notes to the Company statement of cash flows

25.1 Proceeds from issue of convertible loan notes

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Convertible loan notes issued for cash 45 250

25.2 Payment of transaction costs

Transaction costs were professional fees paid to lawyers, accountants, and advisers for the Company in 
connection with the convertible loan notes, which were £nil for the year (2011: £10,000)

26. Capital commitments

Group

As at the balance sheet date, there are no material capital commitments.

China Food AR2012_Financial_270613_v8.indd   69 27-Jun-13   2:41:37 PM



CHINA FOOD  COMPANY PLC

70 Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts
FoR the YeaR eNDeD 31 DecemBeR 2012

27. Related party disclosures

Group

(a) In addition to related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following 
significant related party transactions took place during the year on terms agreed between the parties:

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000
Directors
Convertible loan interest 6 9
Directors loan 87 -
Dividend - 1

Main World Investments Limited(1)

Convertible loan interest 117 115
Convertible loan as at December 31 1,107 1,041
Shareholder loan interest 326 199
Shareholder loan as at December 31 4,897 4,912

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd(2)

Convertible loan interest 84 77
Convertible loan as at December 31 824 776
Shareholder loan interest 81 17
Shareholder loan as at December 31 615 646

Sorbic International PLC(3)

Service fee receivable 7 12

(1) Main World Investments Limited is one of the substantial shareholders of the Company.

(2) Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd is one of the substantial shareholders of the Company.

(3) One of the directors of the Company is also the director of Sorbic International PLC.
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27. Related party disclosures (continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel (as recognised in the consolidated income statement)

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Short-term employee benefits 440  659
Post employment benefits  17  16 
Share-based payments  64  86 
Total compensation to key management personnel 521  761 

Comprised amounts paid to:
Directors 450 634
Other key management personnel of the Group 71 127

521 761

(c) Convertible loan notes

As at 31 December 2012, outstanding convertible loan notes owed to the directors were as follows:

Direct Deemed
 £’000 £’000

Principal 50 1,000
Interest accrued 7 149

57 1,149

Deemed interests are indirect holdings, namely shares owned by the spouse of a director, and by a 
company in which a director holds office.

(d) Ultimate controlling party

China Food is a public listed company with no single controlling party.

(e) Raphael Tham Wai Mun, an Executive Director of the Group, has been acting in a transaction advisory 
capacity for Woh Hup Food Industries Pte Ltd (“Woh Hup”), a customer of the Group.  Raphael is not 
a shareholder in Woh Hup and has not received any payments from Woh Hup in his advisory capacity.  
Total sales of £264,000 (2011: £58,000) were made by the Group to Woh Hup during the year. As at 
31 December 2012, the Group had a trade receivable balance of £133,000 (2011: nil) due from Woh 
Hup. 
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27. Related party disclosures (continued)

Company

The following significant related party transactions took place during the year on terms agreed between the 
parties:

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

 £’000  £’000

Advance to a subsidiary 2,768 2,905

Amount due from a subsidiary 416 316

The advance to a subsidiary represents an amount extended by China Food to a subsidiary. It is unsecured, 
interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

The amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Management fee income from a subsidiary 100 100

Directors
Convertible loan interest 6 9
Director loan 56 -
Dividend - 1

Main World Investments Limited(1)

Convertible loan interest 117 115
Convertible loan as at December 31 1,107 1,041
Shareholder loan interest 116 43
Shareholder loan as at December 31 1,131 1,187

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd(2)

Convertible loan interest 84 77
Convertible loan as at December 31 824 776
Shareholder loan interest 81 17
Shareholder loan as at December 31 615 646

(1) Main World Investments Limited is one of the substantial shareholders of the Company.

(2) Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd is one of the substantial shareholders of the Company.
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27. Related party disclosures (continued)

As at 31 December 2011, outstanding convertible loan notes owed to the directors were as follows:

Direct Deemed
 £’000 £’000

Principal 50 1,000
Interest accrued 7 149

57 1,149

Deemed interests are indirect holdings, namely shares owned by the spouse of a director, and by a company 
in which a director holds office.

28. Directors’ remuneration

Remuneration paid to or receivable by Directors of China Food in respect of qualifying services was as follows:

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000  £’000 

Aggregate fees and emoluments 374 550
Pension scheme contributions 12 12
Share-based payment 64 72

450 634

Total emoluments include the following amounts in respect of the highest paid director:

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Salary and benefits 177 190

There are no directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing under money purchase pension schemes.
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29. Risk management objectives and policies

China Food is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to currency risk, 
interest rate risk, credit and liquidity risk and certain other price risks, which result from both its operating and 
investing activities. The Group’s risk management is coordinated at its headquarters, in close co-operation 
with the Board of directors, and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by 
minimising the exposure to financial markets.

China Food does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write 
options. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below. See also note 
29.5 for a summary of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities by category.

29.1 Foreign currency sensitivity

Group

Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in the PRC. Both sales and purchases are primarily 
denominated in RMB. The amounts to be paid and received in RMB are expected to largely offset one 
another, no hedging activity is undertaken. However, as the Group’s financial statements are prepared in GBP, 
its exposure to foreign currency translation is analysed as follows:

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into GBP at the closing rate, are as 
follows:

As at 31 December 2012 As at 31 December 2011
£’000 £’000

Nominal amounts USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD

Financial assets - - - - - -
Financial liabilities (1,230) (188)  - (1,291) - -
Short-term exposure (1,230) (188)  - (1,291) - -

　 　 　

Financial liabilities  (3,591) - -  (3,769) - -
Long-term exposure  (3,591)  -  -  (3,769)  -  - 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity in regards to the Group’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities and the GBP - USD, GBP - RMB and GBP - SGD exchange rate.

It assumes a +1.3% / -1.5% change of the GBP/USD exchange rate for the year ended at 31 December 
2012 (2011: +2.1% / -2.2). A +1.1% / -1.4% change of the GBP/RMB exchange rate for the year ended at 
31 December 2012 (2011: +2.0% / -2.6). A +0.8% / -0.9% change of the GBP/SGD exchange rate for the 
year ended at 31 December 2012 (2011: +1.6% / -1.1). Each of these percentages has been determined 
based on the average monthly market volatility in exchange rates in the previous 12 months. The sensitivity 
analysis is based on the Group’s foreign currency financial instruments held at each reporting date.
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29. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

29.1 Foreign currency sensitivity (continued)

If the GBP had strengthened against the USD, RMB and SGD by 1.3% (2011: 2.1%), 1.1% (2011: 2.0%) and 
0.8% (2011: 1.6%) respectively then this would have had the following increase/(decrease) in the net result for 
the year and equity:

As at 31 December 2012 As at 31 December 2011
 £’000  £’000 

USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD

Net result for the year 62 2 - 104 - -
Equity 62 2 - 104  - -

If the GBP had weakened against the USD, RMB and SGD by 1.5% (2011: 2.2%), 1.4% (2011: 2.2%) and 
0.9% (2011: 1.1%) respectively then this would have had the following increase/(decrease) in the net result for 
the year and equity:

As at 31 December 2012 As at 31 December 2011
 £’000  £’000 

USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD

Net result for the year  (73) (3)  -  (114) - -
Equity  (73) (3)  -  (114) -  -

Company

Most of the Company’s transactions are denominated in GBP except for an advance to a subsidiary and a 
shareholder loan which are denominated in USD.

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into GBP at the closing rate, are as 
follows:

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000
Nominal amounts USD USD

Financial assets 2,768 2,905
 Financial liabilities  (1,230)  (1,291)
Short-term exposure 1,538 1,614 

Financial liabilities (516) (542)
Long-term exposure (516) (542)

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity in regards to the 
Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities and the GBP - USD exchange rate.
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29. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

29.1 Foreign currency sensitivity (continued)

It assumes a +1.3% / -1.5% change of the GBP/USD exchange rate for the year ended at 31 December 
2012 (2011: +2.1% / -2.2%). Each of these percentages has been determined based on the average 
monthly market volatility in exchange rates in the previous 12 months. The sensitivity analysis is based on the 
Company’s foreign currency financial instruments held at each balance sheet date.

If the GBP had strengthened against the USD by 1.3% (2011: 2.1%), then this would have had the following 
increase/(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity:

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000
USD USD

Net result for the year  (13)  (22)
Equity  (13)  (22)

If the GBP had weakened against the USD by 1.5% (2011: 2.2%), then this would have had the following 
increase/(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity:

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000
USD USD

Net result for the year 16 24
Equity 16 24

In 2012, the Company had a USD loan, in relation to which the foreign currency risk was mitigated due to an 
offsetting USD loan receivable from a subsidiary.

29.2 Interest rate sensitivity

Group

China Food’s policy is to minimise interest rate cash flow risk exposure on long-term financing. Longer-term 
borrowings are therefore usually at fixed rates. At 31 December 2012, China Food is exposed to changes in 
market interest rates through its bank borrowings, which are subject to variable interest rates.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity to a reasonably possible 
change in interest rates of +0.50% and -0.00% (2011: +0.50%/-0.00%), with effect from the beginning of 
the year. These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market 
conditions, and based on the fact that the Group’s borrowings comprise shareholder loans at a fixed rate of 
interest, and bank loans in China where interest rates are expected to increase. The calculations are based on 
the Group’s financial instruments held at each balance sheet date. All other variables are held constant.
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29. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

29.2 Interest rate sensitivity (continued)

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

Change in Interest rate Change in Interest rate
0.50 % -0.00% 0.50 % -0.00%

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and banks 39 - 33 -
Bank loans - short term  (50) -  (44) -
Shareholders’ loans - current - - - -
Convertible loan notes - - - -
Bank loan - long term - - - -
Shareholder’s loan - non-current - - - -

 (11) -  (11) -

Company

The Company is not exposed to changes in market interest rate as the Company estimated a reasonably 
possible change in interest rates of +0.00% and -0.00% (2011: +0.00%/-0.00%), with effect from beginning of 
the year.

29.3 Credit risk analysis

Group

China Food’s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised 
at the balance sheet date, as summarised below:

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Trade and other receivables 3,571 2,617
Cash and cash equivalents 7,968 6,584

11,539 9,201

China Food continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identified either individually 
or by group, and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls. The Group’s policy is to deal only 
with creditworthy counterparties.

China Food’s management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired for each of the 
reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.

In respect of trade and other receivables, China Food is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to 
any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The credit risk for liquid 
funds is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit 
ratings.

All trade receivables as at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 were current.
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29. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

29.3 Credit risk analysis (continued)

Company

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised at the 
balance sheet date, as summarised below:

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Trade and other receivables 5 5
Advance to a subsidiary 2,768 2,905
Amount due from a subsidiary 416 316
Cash and cash equivalents 6 8

3,195 3,234

In respect of trade and other receivables, China Food is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure. 
The credit risk for liquid funds is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high 
quality external credit ratings.

29.4 Liquidity risk analysis

Group

China Food manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-
term and short-term financial liabilities as well as cash-outflows due in day-to-day operations. Liquidity needs 
are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling one month and 
three months projection. Long-term liquidity needs for a 360-day lookout period are identified in the year end 
budget.

China Food maintains cash to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 30-day periods. Funding for long-term 
liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

As at 31 December 2012, China Food’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities which are summarised 
below:

Current Non-current
within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years later than 5 years

2012 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables  17,305 - - -
Convertible loan notes 768 335 5,357 -
Shareholders’ loan  1,661 532 5,388 -
Bank borrowings 6,731  3,496 - -

26,465 4,363 10,745  - 
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29. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

29.4 Liquidity risk analysis (continued)

This compares to the maturity of China Food’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting periods as follows:

Current Non-current
within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years later than 5 years

2011 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables  9,893 - - -
Convertible loan notes 1,486 3,107 - -
Shareholder’s loan  1,361 598 5,025 -
Bank borrowings 7,856  1,042 - -

20,596 4,747 5,025  - 

The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ to the carrying values of the 
liabilities at the balance sheet date.

Company

As at 31 December 2012, the Company’s liabilities have contractual maturities which are summarised below:

Current Non-current
within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years later than 5 years

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables  968  -  - -
Convertible loan notes 768 335 5,357 -
Shareholders’ loan  1,452  -  762 -

 3,188  335  6,119  - 

This compares to the maturity of the Company’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting periods as follows:

Current Non-current
within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years later than 5 years

2011 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables  5,062  -  - -
Convertible loan notes  1,786  3,107  - -
Shareholders’ loan  1,361  -  746 -

 8,209  3,107  746  - 
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29. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

29.5 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

Group

The carrying amounts of China Food’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at the balance sheet 
date of the reporting periods under review may also be categorised as follows. See notes 3.9 and 3.14 for 
explanations as to how the categorisation of financial instruments affects their subsequent measurement.

In all cases the fair values of the assets and liabilities are considered to approximate to their carrying values. In 
the case of the convertible loan notes this applies to the debt component only

Notes
Loan and 

receivables
Other 

(non-IAS39) Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

2012

Current:
Trade and other receivables 14 3,374 7 3,381
Cash and cash equivalents 15 7,968 - 7,968
Total for category 11,342 7 11,349

2011

Current:
Trade and other receivables 14 2,491 9 2,500
Cash and cash equivalents 15 6,584 - 6,584
Total for category 9,075 9 9,084

Notes

Financial liabilities
 measured at

amortised cost Total
£’000 £’000

2012

Non-current:
Borrowings 19 3,591 3,591

Current:
Borrowings 16,623 16,623
Trade and other payables 16 13,360 13,360
Total for category 33,574 33,574 

2011

Non-current:
Borrowings 19 3,769 3,769

Current:
Borrowings 14,867 14,867
Trade and other payables 16 7,436 7,436
Total for category 26,072 26,072 
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29. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

29.5 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category (continued)

Company

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at the balance sheet date 
are considered to approximate to their carrying values. The loan to a subsidiary is non interest bearing but 
is viewed by the Directors as short term in nature and hence the fair value is not considered to be materially 
different from carrying value. These assets and liabilities may also be categorised as follows:

Notes
Loan and 

receivables Total
£’000 £’000

2012

Current:
Trade and other receivables 14 2 2
Advance to a subsidiary 27 3,184 3,184
Cash and cash equivalents 16 6 6
Total for category 3,192 3,192

2011

Current:
Trade and other receivables 14 2 2
Advance to a subsidiary 27 3,221 3,221
Cash and cash equivalents 15 8 8
Total for category 3,231 3,231

Notes

Financial liabilities 
measured at

amortised cost Total
£’000 £’000

2012

Non-current:
Borrowings 18, 19 516 516

Current:
Borrowings 5,893 5,837
Trade and other payables 16 967 968
Total for category 7,376 7,321

2011

Non-current:
Borrowings 18, 19 542 542

Current:
Borrowings 5,567 5,567
Trade and other payables 16 502 502
Total for category 6,611 6,611
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30. Capital management policies and procedures

China Food’s capital management objectives are:

• to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; and

• to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

These objectives are achieved by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity less cash and cash equivalents as 
presented on the face of the statement of financial position.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, i.e. equity and financial 
liabilities. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions and risk characteristics of the underlying assets.

Capital for the reporting periods under review is summarised as follows:

As at
31 December 2012

As at
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

Total equity 31,671 38,895
Cash and cash equivalents (7,968) (6,584)
Capital 23,703 32,311

Total equity 31,671 38,895
Borrowings:
  Bank loans 10,068 8,702
  Shareholder’s loan - current 1,949 1,889
  Bank loans – non-current
  Convertible loan notes 4,607 3,940
  Shareholder’s loan - non-current 3,591 3,769
Overall financing 51,886 57,195

Capital-to-overall financing ratio 0.46 0.56

The capital-to-overall financing ratio is considered to be appropriate to the needs of the business.
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31. Segmental reporting

The CODM currently identifies the Group’s operating segments as further described in note 3.19. These 
operating segments are monitored and operating decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment 
operating results.

There were no inter-segment sales and transfers during the years ended 31 December 2012 (2011: Nil).

Business segments

Year ended 31 December 2012
Soya sauce Vinegar/bean paste Total

 £’000  £’000 £’000
Segment revenue
Sales to external customers 11,731 8,370 20,101 

Gross profit 3,140 3,033 6,173

Unallocated
Finance income 440
Finance costs (1,562)
Other expenses (9,617)
Segment operating profit (4,566) 
Taxation (849)
Segment profit for the year (5,415) 

　

Segment assets 2012 69,385

Depreciation and amortisation 2,054 

Year ended 31 December 2011
Soya sauce Vinegar/bean paste Total

 £’000  £’000 £’000
Segment revenue
Sales to external customers 8,526 8,364 16,890

Gross profit 3,037 3,483 6,520

Unallocated
Finance income 25
Finance costs (1,336)
Other expenses (7,135)
Segment operating profit (1,926)
Taxation 29
Segment profit for the year (1,897)

Segment assets 2011 67,852

Depreciation and amortisation 1,453
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31. Segmental reporting (continued)

Geographical information

Revenue information based on the geographical location of are as follows:

Year ended
31 December 2012

Year ended
31 December 2011

£’000 £’000

PRC 19,793 16,798
Rest of world 308 92

20,101 16,890

There is no major customer arising from sales by the respective segments.

32. Dividend

No dividend was declared in respect of the year ended 31 December 2012.

A maiden dividend of £0.0013 per share was paid in the year of 2011. Although the company had sufficient 
distributable reserves to make the dividend payment, the relevant interim accounts reflecting these profits 
were not prepared and filed at the appropriate time with the Registrar of Companies as required by the 
Companies Acts 2006. Consequently the payment did not comply with the technical requirements of the 
Companies Acts 2006. Since 31 December 2011, to reflect the adequacy of distributable reserves, interim 
accounts have been filed with the Registrar of Companies, and a resolution remedy its matter approved by 
Shareholders of the Company’s AGM on 29 June 2012.
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CHINA FOOD COMPANY INTERNATIONAL PLC
(Incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 06077223)

Registered office:
49 Whitehall 
London SW1A 2BX

Date 28 June 2013

To all shareholders

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Dear Shareholder,

The Annual General Meeting (“Meeting”) of China Food Company Plc (the “Company”) is due to take place on 24th 
July 2013 at 10.30 a.m. at Stephenson Harwood LLP, 1 Finsbury Circus, London, EC2M 7SH.

The Meeting is being held to comply with company law requirements and to pass a standard set of shareholder 
resolutions. You will be given the opportunity to raise any questions in relation to such resolutions at the Meeting. 

Resolutions 7 and 8 are proposed as special resolutions and are special business. This means that for the 
resolutions to be passed, at least three quarters of the votes cast must be in favour of the resolutions. 

Recommendation

The Directors of the Company consider that all the proposals to be considered at the Meeting are in the best 
interests of the Company and its members as a whole and are most likely to promote the success of the Company 
for the benefit of its members as a whole. The Directors unanimously recommend that you vote in favour of all the 
proposed resolutions, as they propose to do in respect of their own holdings in the share capital of the Company.

Yours sincerely,

John McLean
Chairman

Letter to aLL sHareHoLDers
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of China Food Company Plc (the “Company”) will be held at 
the offices of Stephenson Harwood LLP, 1 Finsbury Circus, London, EC2M 7SH on 24th July 2013 at 10.30 a.m. for 
the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following resolutions, resolutions 1 to 6 being proposed as 
ordinary resolutions and resolutions 7 and 8 being proposed as special resolutions.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1. To receive and adopt the Company’s audited accounts for the financial year ended 31st December  2012, 
together with the Directors’ report and auditors’ report on those accounts.

2. To re-appoint, pursuant to Article 182 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Grant Thornton UK LLP as 
auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.

3. To authorise the Directors to fix the auditors’ remuneration.

4. To re-elect, as a director of the Company, John McLean, who retires by rotation in accordance with Article 
117 of the Company’s Articles of Association and is eligible for re-election in accordance with Article 119 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association.

5. To elect as a director of the Company, Clifford Halvorsen, subject to his consent to act.

6. To generally and unconditionally authorise the directors to exercise all powers of the Company to allot shares 
in the Company and/or to grant rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares in the Company 
(“Rights”) in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “2006 Act”), provided that this 
authority shall be limited to:

(a) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £952,626  to such persons and at such times and on such 
terms as they think proper; and

(b) up to a further aggregate nominal amount of £1,115,613, to be issued upon the conversion into shares 
in the Company of certain loan notes issued pursuant to loan note instruments dated 1st February 2013 
(the “Loan Notes”)

at any time during the period expiring at the end of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 
2014 save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or enter into an agreement which would 
or might require shares in the Company to be allotted, or Rights to be granted after such expiry and the 
Directors may allot shares in the Company and/or grant Rights in pursuance of any such offer or agreement 
as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION

7. Subject to the passing of resolution 6 and in accordance with section 570 of the 2006 Act, to generally 
empower the directors to allot equity securities (as defined in section 560 of the 2006 Act) pursuant to the 
authority conferred by resolution 6, as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act did not apply to any such allotment, 
provided that this power shall be limited to:

(a) an aggregate allotment of equity securities up to a nominal amount of £1,115,613 ordinary shares 
issued in connection with the conversion of the Loan Notes into shares in the Company (as described 
in resolution 6 above); and

notice oF annuaL GeneraL meetinG
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(b) (in addition to the authority conferred pursuant to sub-paragraph 7(a) above) the allotment of equity 
securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of  £428,396.

The power granted by this resolution will expire on at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held in 2014 (unless renewed, varied or revoked by the Company prior to or on such date) 
save that the Company may, before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require 
equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of 
any such offer or agreement notwithstanding that the power conferred by this resolution has expired. This 
resolution revokes and replaces all unexercised powers previously granted to the Directors to allot equity 
securities as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act did not apply but without prejudice to any allotment of equity 
securities already made or agreed to be made pursuant to such authorities.

8. That the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 701 
of the 2006 Act to make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the 2006 Act) of ordinary 
shares of £0.04 each in the capital of the Company (“Ordinary Shares”) on such terms and in such manner 
as the directors of the Company may from time to time determine, provided that:

(a) the maximum aggregate number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased is £428,396 
(being 14.99 per cent of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this notice of 
meeting );

(b) the minimum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is £0.04 per 
share, being the nominal amount thereof;

(c) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for an Ordinary Share cannot be more 
than an amount equal to 105 per cent of the average of the middle market price for an Ordinary Share 
as derived from the AIM section of the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business 
days immediately preceding the date on which such Ordinary Shares are contracted to be purchased; 
and

(d) the authority hereby conferred shall expire (unless previously renewed or revoked) at the conclusion of 
the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2014 except in relation to the purchase of 
any Ordinary Shares the contract for which was concluded before the date of expiry of the authority 
and which would or might be completed wholly or partly after that date.

By Order of the Board

John McLean 
Chairman

Registered office:
49 Whitehall
London SW1A 2BX

Date: 28 June 2013
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